ASPEN TECHNOLOGY INC /DE/ Form 10-Q January 28, 2016 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

X QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended December 31, 2015

or

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

to

Commission file number: 001-34630

ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

| Delaware | 04-2739697 |
|--|--------------------------------------|
| (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or | (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.) |
| organization) | |

20 Crosby Drive
Bedford, Massachusetts
(Address of principal executive offices)

01730 (Zip Code)

(781) 221-6400

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days: Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer X

Accelerated filer O

Non-accelerated filer o
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller reporting company O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act): Yes o No x

As of January 21, 2016, there were 83,389,335 shares of the registrant s common stock (par value \$0.10 per share) outstanding.

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page **PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION** Financial Statements 3 Item 1. Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 22 **Operations** Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Item 3. 40 Item 4. Controls and Procedures 41 PART II - OTHER INFORMATION Item 1. Legal Proceedings 42 Item 1A. Risk Factors 42 Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 43 <u>Item 6.</u> **Exhibits** 44 **SIGNATURES**

aspenONE is one of our registered trademarks. All other trade names, trademarks and service marks appearing in this Form 10-Q are the property of their respective owners.

Our fiscal year ends on June 30, and references to a specific fiscal year are to the twelve months ended June 30 of such year (for example, fiscal 2016 refers to the year ending June 30, 2016).

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

| | Three Months Ended December 31, | | | | | Six Months Ended December 31, | | | |
|--|---------------------------------|---------|-----|---------------------|--------|----------------------------------|----|---------|--|
| | | 2015 | | 2014 | | 2015 | , | 2014 | |
| | | | (Do | llars in Thousands, | Except | t per Share Data) | | | |
| Revenue: | | | | | | | | | |
| Subscription and software | \$ | 110,126 | \$ | 98,716 | \$ | 221,985 | \$ | 197,459 | |
| Services and other | | 9,025 | | 9,074 | | 17,462 | | 17,457 | |
| Total revenue | | 119,151 | | 107,790 | | 239,447 | | 214,916 | |
| Cost of revenue: | | | | | | | | | |
| Subscription and software | | 4,967 | | 5,208 | | 10,209 | | 10,409 | |
| Services and other | | 6,921 | | 7,057 | | 14,651 | | 14,237 | |
| Total cost of revenue | | 11,888 | | 12,265 | | 24,860 | | 24,646 | |
| Gross profit | | 107,263 | | 95,525 | | 214,587 | | 190,270 | |
| Operating expenses: | | | | | | | | | |
| Selling and marketing | | 21,178 | | 22,821 | | 43,614 | | 44,439 | |
| Research and development | | 15,981 | | 15,957 | | 32,578 | | 32,225 | |
| General and administrative | | 13,805 | | 10,226 | | 26,667 | | 22,451 | |
| Total operating expenses, net | | 50,964 | | 49,004 | | 102,859 | | 99,115 | |
| Income from operations | | 56,299 | | 46,521 | | 111,728 | | 91,155 | |
| Interest income | | 71 | | 132 | | 153 | | 268 | |
| Interest expense | | (13) | | (4) | | (14) | | (7) | |
| Other income (expense), net | | (157) | | (248) | | 739 | | (60) | |
| Income before provision for income taxes | | 56,200 | | 46,401 | | 112,606 | | 91,356 | |
| Provision for income taxes | | 19,517 | | 15,937 | | 39,152 | | 31,924 | |
| Net income | \$ | 36,683 | \$ | 30,464 | \$ | 73,454 | \$ | 59,432 | |
| Net income per common share: | | | | | | | | | |
| Basic | \$ | 0.44 | \$ | 0.34 | \$ | 0.88 | \$ | 0.66 | |
| Diluted | \$ | 0.44 | \$ | 0.34 | \$ | 0.87 | \$ | 0.65 | |
| Weighted average shares outstanding: | | | | | | | | | |
| Basic | | 83,315 | | 89,942 | | 83,596 | | 90,562 | |
| Diluted | | 83,703 | | 90,471 | | 84,035 | | 91,196 | |

See accompanying Notes to these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Unaudited)

| | Three Months Ended December 31, | | | | Six Months Ended December 31, | | | |
|---|---------------------------------|--------|----|---------------|----------------------------------|---------|----|---------|
| | | 2015 | | 2014 | | 2015 | | 2014 |
| | | | | (Dollars in ' | Thousa | ands) | | |
| 54.14 | ф | 26.602 | Φ. | 20.464 | Φ. | 72.454 | Φ. | 50.400 |
| Net income | \$ | 36,683 | \$ | 30,464 | \$ | 73,454 | \$ | 59,432 |
| Other comprehensive loss: | | | | | | | | |
| Net unrealized gains (losses) on available for sale | | | | | | | | |
| securities, net of tax effects of \$8 and (\$4) for the three | | | | | | | | |
| and six months ended December 31, 2015, and \$20 and | | | | | | | | |
| \$42 for the three and six months ended December 31, | | | | | | | | |
| 2014 | | (15) | | (39) | | 8 | | (78) |
| Foreign currency translation adjustments | | (428) | | (945) | | (2,161) | | (2,475) |
| Total other comprehensive loss | | (443) | | (984) | | (2,153) | | (2,553) |
| Comprehensive income | \$ | 36,240 | \$ | 29,480 | \$ | 71,301 | \$ | 56,879 |

See accompanying Notes to these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)

| | D | ecember 31, 2015 | June 30, 2015 | |
|--|----|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------|
| | | (Dollars in Tho | ousands, E Data) | |
| ASSETS | | ~ | , | |
| Current assets: | | | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | \$ | 170,623 | \$ | 156,249 |
| Short-term marketable securities | | 29,946 | | 59,197 |
| Accounts receivable, net | | 14,777 | | 30,721 |
| Current portion of installments receivable, net | | 254 | | 1,589 |
| Unbilled services | | 668 | | 1,108 |
| Prepaid expenses and other current assets | | 7,310 | | 8,055 |
| Prepaid income taxes | | 538 | | 542 |
| Current deferred tax assets | | 6,110 | | 6,169 |
| Total current assets | | 230,226 | | 263,630 |
| Long-term marketable securities | | | | 3,047 |
| Non-current installments receivable, net | | 258 | | 253 |
| Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net | | 17,049 | | 18,039 |
| Computer software development costs, net | | 674 | | 1,026 |
| Goodwill | | 16,258 | | 17,360 |
| Non-current deferred tax assets | | 10,525 | | 10,444 |
| Other non-current assets | | 1,403 | | 1,562 |
| Total assets | \$ | 276,393 | \$ | 315,361 |
| LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY | | | | |
| Current liabilities: | | | | |
| Accounts payable | \$ | 3,924 | \$ | 5,240 |
| Accrued expenses and other current liabilities | | 29,996 | | 38,483 |
| Income taxes payable | | 4,548 | | 1,775 |
| Current deferred revenue | | 196,191 | | 250,968 |
| Total current liabilities | | 234,659 | | 296,466 |
| Non-current deferred revenue | | 33,870 | | 37,919 |
| Other non-current liabilities | | 30,060 | | 29,522 |
| Commitments and contingencies (Note 11) | | | | |
| Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock, \$0.10 par value | | | | |
| Authorized 3,636 shares as of December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015 | | | | |
| Issued and outstanding none as of December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015 | | | | |
| Stockholders deficit: | | | | |
| Common stock, \$0.10 par value Authorized 210,000,000 shares | | | | |
| Issued 101,832,152 shares at December 31, 2015 and 101,607,520 shares at June 30, 2015 | | | | |
| Outstanding 83,389,335 shares at December 31, 2015 and 84,504,202 shares at June 30, | | 40.400 | | 10.161 |
| 2015 | | 10,183 | | 10,161 |
| Additional paid-in capital | | 651,976 | | 641,883 |
| Accumulated deficit | | (72,173) | | (145,627) |
| Accumulated other comprehensive income | | 4,317 | | 6,470 |
| Treasury stock, at cost 18,442,817 shares of common stock at December 31, 2015 and | | 164.6.100 | | /m - a - a - a - a |
| 17,103,318 shares at June 30, 2015 | | (616,499) | | (561,433) |
| Total stockholders deficit | | (22,196) | | (48,546) |

Total liabilities and stockholders deficit \$ 276,393 \$ 315,361

See accompanying Notes to these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

5

ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

| | Six Months Ended December 31, | | | | | |
|---|----------------------------------|---------------|-----------|-----------|--|--|
| | 2015 | | | 2014 | | |
| Cook flows from anausting activities | | (Dollars in ' | Thousands | 5) | | |
| Cash flows from operating activities: Net income | \$ | 73,454 | \$ | 59,432 | | |
| Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: | Ф | 73,434 | φ | 39,432 | | |
| Depreciation and amortization | | 3,020 | | 2,858 | | |
| Net foreign currency gains | | (1,444) | | (1,379) | | |
| Stock-based compensation | | 7,935 | | 7,666 | | |
| Deferred income taxes (benefit) | | (133) | | 21,773 | | |
| Provision for bad debts | | 176 | | 338 | | |
| Tax benefits from stock-based compensation | | 1,831 | | 7.684 | | |
| Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation | | (1,831) | | (7,684) | | |
| Other non-cash operating activities | | 271 | | 782 | | |
| Changes in assets and liabilities: | | 2/1 | | 702 | | |
| Accounts receivable | | 15,720 | | 18,519 | | |
| Unbilled services | | 423 | | 990 | | |
| Prepaid expenses, prepaid income taxes, and other assets | | 231 | | 2,914 | | |
| Installments receivable | | 1,339 | | 980 | | |
| Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities | | (3,307) | | (5,254) | | |
| Deferred revenue | | (58,513) | | (35,844) | | |
| Net cash provided by operating activities | | 39,172 | | 73,775 | | |
| Cash flows from investing activities: | | 37,172 | | 73,773 | | |
| Purchases of marketable securities | | | | (39,048) | | |
| Maturities of marketable securities | | 32,049 | | 39.012 | | |
| Purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements | | (1,781) | | (4,328) | | |
| Capitalized computer software development costs | | (-,, -, | | (137) | | |
| Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities | | 30,268 | | (4,501) | | |
| Cash flows from financing activities: | | | | ()) | | |
| Exercises of stock options | | 2,445 | | 1,515 | | |
| Repurchases of common stock | | (56,790) | | (115,905) | | |
| Payments of tax withholding obligations related to restricted stock | | (2,188) | | (2,574) | | |
| Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation | | 1,831 | | 7,684 | | |
| Net cash used in financing activities | | (54,702) | | (109,280) | | |
| Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents | | (364) | | (1,077) | | |
| Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents | | 14,374 | | (41,083) | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period | | 156,249 | | 199,526 | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents, end of period | \$ | 170,623 | \$ | 158,443 | | |
| Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: | | | | | | |
| Income taxes paid, net | \$ | 34,497 | \$ | 2,621 | | |
| Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities: | | | | | | |
| Change in landlord improvement allowance included in leasehold improvements and | | | | | | |
| deferred rent liability | \$ | | \$ | 6,064 | | |
| Change in purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements included in | | (205) | | 2.104 | | |
| accounts payable and accrued expenses | | (295) | | 2,184 | | |
| Change in common stock repurchases included in accrued expenses | | (1,724) | | 1,712 | | |

See accompanying Notes to these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

ASPEN TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Interim Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

The accompanying interim unaudited consolidated financial statements of Aspen Technology, Inc. and its subsidiaries have been prepared on the same basis as our annual consolidated financial statements. We have omitted certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in our annual consolidated financial statements. Such interim unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), as defined in the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 270, *Interim Reporting*, for interim financial information and with the instructions to Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. It is suggested that these unaudited consolidated financial statements be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2015, which are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, as previously filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal and recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows at the dates and for the periods presented have been included and all intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The results of operations for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the subsequent quarter or for the full fiscal year.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to we, our and us refer to Aspen Technology, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Aspen Technology, Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(b) Revenue Recognition

Transition to the aspenONE Licensing Model

Prior to fiscal 2010, we offered term or perpetual licenses to specific products, or specifically defined sets of products, which we refer to as point products. The majority of our license revenue was recognized under an upfront revenue model, in which the net present value of the aggregate license fees was recognized as revenue upon shipment of the point products. Customers typically received one year of post-contract software maintenance and support, or SMS, with their license agreements and then could elect to renew SMS annually. Revenue from SMS was recognized ratably over the period in which the SMS was delivered.

In fiscal 2010, we introduced the following changes to our licensing model:

- (i) We began offering our software on a subscription basis, allowing our customers access to all products within a licensed suite (aspenONE Engineering or aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain). SMS is included for the entire term of the arrangement and customers are entitled to any software products or updates introduced into the licensed suite. We refer to this license arrangement as our aspenONE licensing model.
- (ii) We began to include SMS for the entire term on our point product term arrangements.

In fiscal 2012, we introduced Premier Plus SMS. As part of this offering, customers receive 24x7 support, faster response times, dedicated technical advocates and access to web-based training modules. Premier Plus SMS is exclusively available as a component of our term contract arrangements and we are unable to establish VSOE for this deliverable because we don t offer it on a stand-alone basis.

7

Table of Contents

Revenue related to our aspenONE licensing model and point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS are both recognized over the term of the arrangement on a ratable basis. The changes to our licensing model resulted in a significant reduction to license revenue in fiscal 2010, as compared to fiscal periods preceding our licensing model changes. From fiscal 2010 through fiscal 2015, as customer license arrangements previously executed under the upfront revenue model reached the end of their terms, and were renewed under the aspenONE licensing model, we recognized increasing amounts of subscription revenue and deferred revenue. The value of our installed base of software licenses was also growing during this period which further contributed to growth in subscription and deferred revenue. Many of our license arrangements were five or six years in duration when the aspenONE licensing model was introduced at the start of fiscal 2010, and consequently, a number of arrangements executed under the upfront revenue model did not reach the end of their original term until the end of fiscal 2015. For fiscal 2016 and beyond, we do not expect the changes to our licensing model to have a material impact on subscription revenue or deferred revenue.

The changes to our licensing model introduced in fiscal 2010 did not change the method or timing of customer billings or cash collections. In addition, the changes to our licensing model did not impact the incurrence or timing of our expenses. Since there was no corresponding expense reduction to offset the lower revenue during fiscal years 2010-2015, operating income was lower than what would have been reported under a fully transitioned revenue model.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from the following sources: (1) licensing software products; (2) providing SMS and training; and (3) providing professional services. We sell our software products to end users primarily under fixed-term licenses and perpetual licenses. As a standard business practice, we offer extended payment term options for our fixed-term license arrangements, which are generally payable on an annual basis. Certain of our fixed-term license agreements include product mixing rights that allow customers the flexibility to change or alternate the use of multiple products included in the license arrangement after those products are delivered to the customer. We refer to these arrangements as token arrangements. Tokens are fixed units of measure. The amount of software usage is limited by the number of tokens purchased by the customer.

Four basic criteria must be satisfied before software license revenue can be recognized: persuasive evidence of an arrangement between us and an end user; delivery of our product has occurred; the fee for the product is fixed or determinable; and collection of the fee is probable.

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement We use a signed contract as evidence of an arrangement for software licenses and SMS. For professional services we use a signed contract and a work proposal to evidence an arrangement. In cases where both a signed contract and a purchase order are required by the customer, we consider both taken together as evidence of the arrangement.

Delivery of our product Software and the corresponding access keys are generally delivered to customers via disk media with standard shipping terms of Free Carrier, our warehouse (i.e., FCA, named place). Our software license agreements do not contain conditions for acceptance.

Fee is fixed or determinable We assess whether a fee is fixed or determinable at the outset of the arrangement. Significant judgment is involved in making this assessment.

Under our upfront revenue model, we are able to demonstrate that the fees are fixed or determinable for all arrangements, including those for our term licenses that contain extended payment terms. We have an established history of collecting under the terms of these contracts without providing concessions to customers. In addition, we also assess whether a contract modification to an existing term arrangement constitutes a concession. In making this assessment, significant analysis is performed to ensure that no concessions are given. Our software license agreements do not include a right of return or exchange. For license arrangements executed under the upfront revenue model, we recognize license revenue upon delivery of the software product, provided all other revenue recognition requirements are met.

We cannot assert that the fees under our aspenONE licensing model and point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS are fixed or determinable because the rights provided to customers, and the economics of the arrangements, are not comparable to our transactions with other customers under the upfront revenue model. As a result, the amount of revenue recognized for these arrangements is limited by the amount of customer payments that become due.

Collection of fee is probable We assess the probability of collecting from each customer at the outset of the arrangement based on a number of factors, including the customer s payment history, its current creditworthiness, economic conditions in the customer s industry and geographic location, and general economic conditions. If in our judgment collection of a fee is not probable, revenue is recognized as cash is collected, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met.

Table of Contents

Vendor-Specific Objective Evidence of Fair Value

We have established VSOE for certain SMS offerings, professional services, and training, but not for our software products or our Premier Plus SMS offering. We assess VSOE for SMS, professional services, and training, based on an analysis of standalone sales of the offerings using the bell-shaped curve approach. We do not have a history of selling our Premier Plus SMS offering to customers on a standalone basis, and as a result are unable to establish VSOE for this deliverable. As of July 1, 2014, we are no longer able to establish VSOE for legacy SMS offerings sold with our perpetual license arrangements. As a result, all perpetual license agreements that include legacy SMS entered into subsequent to June 30, 2014 will be recognized ratably over the legacy SMS service period. Loss of VSOE on legacy SMS offerings sold with our perpetual license arrangements did not have a material impact on our revenue in fiscal 2015 nor in the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and is not expected to have a material impact on our revenue in future periods.

We allocate the arrangement consideration among the elements included in our multi-element arrangements using the residual method. Under the residual method, the VSOE of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as revenue upon delivery of the software, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. If VSOE does not exist for an undelivered element in an arrangement, revenue is deferred until such evidence does exist for the undelivered elements, or until all elements are delivered, whichever is earlier. Under the upfront revenue model, the residual license fee is recognized upon delivery of the software provided all other revenue recognition criteria were met.

Subscription and Software Revenue

Subscription and software revenue consists of product and related revenue from our (i) aspenONE licensing model; (ii) point product arrangements with our Premier Plus SMS offering included for the contract term; (iii) legacy arrangements including (a) amendments to existing legacy term arrangements, (b) renewals of legacy term arrangements and (c) legacy arrangements that are being recognized over time as a result of not previously meeting one or more of the requirements for recognition under the upfront revenue model; (iv) legacy SMS arrangements; and (v) perpetual arrangements.

When a customer elects to license our products under our aspenONE licensing model, our Premier Plus SMS offering is included for the entire term of the arrangement and the customer receives, for the term of the arrangement, the right to any new unspecified future software products and updates that may be introduced into the licensed aspenONE software suite. Due to our obligation to provide unspecified future software products and updates, we are required to recognize revenue ratably over the term of the arrangement, once the other revenue recognition criteria noted above have been met.

Our point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS include SMS for the term of the arrangement. Since we do not have VSOE for our Premier Plus SMS offering, the SMS element of our point product arrangements is not separable. As a result, revenue associated with point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS included for the contract term is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement, once the other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Perpetual and legacy term license arrangements do not include the same rights as those provided to customers under the aspenONE licensing model and point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS. Legacy SMS revenue is generated from legacy SMS offerings provided in

support of perpetual and legacy term license arrangements. Customers typically receive SMS for one year and then can elect to renew SMS annually. During fiscal 2014 and prior periods, we had VSOE for certain legacy SMS offerings sold with perpetual and term license arrangements and could therefore separate the undelivered elements. Accordingly, license fee revenue for perpetual and legacy term license arrangements was recognized upon delivery of the software products using the residual method, provided all other revenue recognition requirements were met. VSOE of fair value for the undelivered SMS component sold with our perpetual and term license arrangements was deferred and subsequently amortized into revenue ratably over the contractual term of the SMS arrangement. As of July 1, 2014, we are no longer able to establish VSOE for our legacy SMS offerings sold with our perpetual license arrangements. As a result, all perpetual license agreements that include legacy SMS entered into subsequent to June 30, 2014 will be recognized ratably over the legacy SMS service period. Loss of VSOE on legacy SMS offerings sold with our perpetual license arrangements did not have a material impact on our revenue in fiscal 2015 nor in the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and is not expected to have a material impact on our revenue in future periods.

Services and Other Revenue

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services are provided to customers on a time-and-materials (T&M) or fixed-price basis. We recognize professional services fees for our T&M contracts based upon hours worked and contractually agreed-upon hourly rates. Revenue from fixed-price

9

Table of Contents

engagements is recognized using the proportional performance method based on the ratio of costs incurred to the total estimated project costs. Project costs are typically expensed as incurred. The use of the proportional performance method is dependent upon our ability to reliably estimate the costs to complete a project. We use historical experience as a basis for future estimates to complete current projects. Additionally, we believe that costs are the best available measure of performance. Out-of-pocket expenses which are reimbursed by customers are recorded as revenue.

In certain circumstances, professional services revenue may be recognized over a longer time period than the period over which the services are performed. If the costs to complete a project are not estimable or the completion is uncertain, the revenue is recognized upon completion of the services. In circumstances in which professional services are sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new aspenONE license or point product arrangement with Premier Plus SMS, revenue is deferred and recognized on a ratable basis over the longer of (i) the period the services are performed, or (ii) the license term. When we provide professional services considered essential to the functionality of the software, we recognize the combined revenue from the sale of the software and related services using the completed contract or percentage-of-completion method.

We have occasionally been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects, which resulted in losses on those contracts. Provisions for estimated losses on contracts are made during the period in which such losses become probable and can be reasonably estimated.

Training Revenue

We provide training services to our customers, including on-site, Internet-based, public and customized training. Revenue is recognized in the period in which the services are performed. In circumstances in which training services are sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new aspenONE license or point product arrangement with Premier Plus SMS, revenue is deferred and recognized on a ratable basis over the longer of (i) the period the services are performed or (ii) the license term.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed or collected in advance of revenue recognition, including arrangements under the aspenONE licensing model, point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS, legacy SMS arrangements, professional services, and training. Under the aspenONE licensing model and for point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS, VSOE does not exist for the undelivered elements, and as a result, the arrangement fees are recognized ratably (i.e., on a subscription basis) over the term of the license. Deferred revenue is recorded as each invoice becomes due.

For arrangements under the upfront revenue model, a portion of the arrangement fee is generally recorded as deferred revenue due to the inclusion of an undelivered element, typically certain of our legacy SMS offerings or professional services. The amount of revenue allocated to undelivered elements is based on the VSOE for those elements using the residual method, and is earned and recognized as revenue as each element is delivered.

Other Licensing Matters

Our standard licensing agreements include a product warranty provision. We have not experienced significant claims related to software warranties beyond the scope of SMS support, which we are already obligated to provide, and consequently, we have not established reserves for warranty obligations.

Our agreements with our customers generally require us to indemnify the customer against claims that our software infringes third-party patent, copyright, trademark or other proprietary rights. Such indemnification obligations are generally limited in a variety of industry-standard respects, including our right to replace an infringing product. As of December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015, we had not experienced any material losses related to these indemnification obligations and no claims with respect thereto were outstanding. We do not expect significant claims related to these indemnification obligations, and consequently, have not established any related reserves.

(c) Loss Contingencies

We accrue estimated liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation and other sources when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the claim, assessment or damages can be reasonably estimated. We believe that we have sufficient accruals to cover any obligations resulting from claims, assessments or litigation that have met these criteria. Please refer to Note 11 for discussion of these matters and related liability accruals.

(d) Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency exchange gains and losses generated from the settlement and remeasurement of transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our subsidiaries are recognized in our results of operations as incurred as a component of other income, net. Net foreign currency gains (losses) were (\$0.2) million and \$0.7 million during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and (\$0.2) million during the three and six months ended December 31, 2014, respectively.

(e) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*. ASU No. 2014-09 was issued by the FASB as a part of the joint project with the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) to clarify revenue recognition principles and develop a common revenue standard for the U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

ASU No. 2014-09 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 is permitted but not before December 15, 2016. The amendments included within ASU No. 2014-09 should be applied by using one of the following methods:

Retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented. The entity may elect any of the practical expedients described in ASU No. 2014-09 when applying this method.

Retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying ASU No. 2014-09 recognized at the date of initial application. In the reporting periods that include the date of the initial application of ASU No. 2014-09, the entity should disclose the amount by which each financial statement line item is affected by the application of ASU No. 2014-09 in the current reporting period as compared to the guidance that was in effect before the change.

We will adopt ASU No. 2014-09 during the first quarter of fiscal 2019. We are currently evaluating the impact of ASU No. 2014-09 on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-05, *Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement.* The amendment provides guidance to customers about whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, the customer should account for the software license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If the arrangement does not include a software license, the customer should account for a cloud computing arrangement as a service contract. The amendment will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2015. We are currently evaluating the impact of ASU No. 2015-05 on

our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, *Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs.* ASU 2015-03 amends current presentation guidance by requiring that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. Prior to the issuance of ASU No. 2015-03, debt issuance costs were required to be presented as an asset on the balance sheet. We adopted the provisions of ASU No. 2015-03 during the second quarter of fiscal 2016. Adjustments to prior periods to conform to the current period presentation was not required as we did not have deferred finance costs on the balance sheet in prior periods. The adoption of ASU No. 2015-03 did not impact our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-15, *Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements.* ASU No. 2015-15 codified clarification of the scope of ASU No. 2015-03 provided by the SEC. ASU No. 2015-15 states that debt issuance costs related to line of credit arrangements can be presented as an asset, similar to the treatment prior to the issuance of ASU No. 2015-03. The SEC staff guidance is effective upon adoption of ASU No. 2015-03, which we adopted in the second quarter of fiscal 2016. The adoption of ASU No. 2015-15 did not impact our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, *Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period* Adjustments, which eliminates the requirement for an acquirer to retrospectively adjust the financial statements for measurement-period adjustments that occur in periods after a business combination is consummated. The ASU instead requires an acquirer to recognize a measurement-period adjustment during the period in which it determines the amount of the adjustment. The ASU is effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted ASU No. 2015-16 during the second quarter of fiscal 2016. The adoption of ASU No. 2015-16 did not impact our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Table of Contents

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, *Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes.* The amendment requires entities with a classified balance sheet to present all deferred tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent. The ASU is effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of ASU No. 2015-05 on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

(f) Other

For further information with regard to our Significant Accounting Policies, please refer to Note 2 of our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.

3. Marketable Securities

The following table summarizes the fair value, the amortized cost and unrealized holding gains (losses) on our marketable securities as of December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015:

| Fair Value | | | Cost (Dollars in Tl | Unrealized Gains Thousands) | | Unrealized Losses | |
|------------|----------------------|--|---|---|--|---|--|
| | | | | | | | |
| \$ | 29,946 | \$ | 29,967 | \$ | 1 | \$ | (22) |
| \$ | 29,946 | \$ | 29,967 | \$ | 1 | \$ | (22) |
| | | | | | | | |
| \$ | | \$ | | \$ | | \$ | |
| \$ | | \$ | | \$ | | \$ | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| \$ | 59,197 | \$ | 59,223 | \$ | 8 | \$ | (34) |
| \$ | 59,197 | \$ | 59,223 | \$ | 8 | \$ | (34) |
| | | | | | | | |
| \$ | 3,047 | \$ | 3,055 | \$ | | \$ | (8) |
| \$ | 3,047 | \$ | 3,055 | \$ | | \$ | (8) |
| | \$ \$ \$ \$ | \$ 29,946 \$ 29,946 \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 59,197 \$ 59,197 | \$ 29,946 \$ \$ 29,946 \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ | \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ | Fair Value Cost (Dollars in Thousands) \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ | Fair Value Cost (Dollars in Thousands) \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ 1 \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ 1 \$ \$ \$ 9,967 \$ 1 \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 59,197 \$ 59,223 \$ 8 \$ 59,197 \$ 59,223 \$ 8 \$ 3,047 \$ 3,055 \$ | Fair Value Cost Gains (Dollars in Thousands) \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ 1 \$ \$ 29,946 \$ 29,967 \$ 1 \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 59,197 \$ 59,223 \$ 8 \$ \$ 59,197 \$ 59,223 \$ 8 \$ \$ 3,047 \$ 3,055 \$ \$ \$ |

Our marketable securities were classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value on the unaudited consolidated balance sheets. Net unrealized gains (losses) were reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax. Realized gains (losses) on investments were recognized in earnings as incurred. Our investments consisted primarily of investment grade fixed income corporate debt securities with maturity dates ranging from January 2016 through August 2016 as of December 31, 2015 and from July 2015 through August 2016 as of June 30, 2015.

We review our marketable securities for impairment at each reporting period to determine if any of our securities have experienced an other-than-temporary decline in fair value in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 320, *Investments- Debt and Equity Securities*. We consider factors, such as the length of time and extent to which the market value has been less than the cost, the financial condition and

near-term prospects of the issuer, our intent to sell, and whether it is more likely than not we will be required to sell the investment before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If we believe that an other-than-temporary decline in fair value has occurred, we write down the investment to fair value and recognize the credit loss in earnings and the non-credit loss in accumulated other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, our marketable securities were not considered other-than-temporarily impaired and, as such, we did not recognize impairment losses during the three and six month periods then ended. Unrealized losses were attributable to changes in interest rates.

4. Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for our subscription and software reporting unit during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 were as follows:

| | (I | Amount Dollars in nousands) |
|----------------------------------|----|-----------------------------------|
| Balance as of June 30, 2014: | | |
| Goodwill | \$ | 84,845 |
| Accumulated impairment losses | | (65,569) |
| | \$ | 19,276 |
| | | |
| Effect of currency translation | | (1,916) |
| | | |
| Balance as of June 30, 2015: | | |
| Goodwill | \$ | 82,929 |
| Accumulated impairment losses | | (65,569) |
| | \$ | 17,360 |
| | | |
| Effect of currency translation | | (1,102) |
| | | |
| Balance as of December 31, 2015: | | |
| Goodwill | \$ | 81,827 |
| Accumulated impairment losses | | (65,569) |
| _ | \$ | 16,258 |

We test goodwill for impairment annually (or more often if impairment indicators arise), at the reporting unit level. We first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we determine based on this assessment that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. The first step requires us to determine the fair value of the reporting unit and compare it to the carrying amount, including goodwill, of such reporting unit. If the fair value exceeds the carrying amount, no impairment loss is recognized. However, if the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the goodwill of the unit may be impaired. The amount of impairment, if any, is measured based upon the implied fair value of goodwill at the valuation date.

Fair value of a reporting unit is determined using a combined weighted average of a market-based approach (utilizing fair value multiples of comparable publicly traded companies) and an income-based approach (utilizing discounted projected cash flows). In applying the income-based approach, we would be required to make assumptions about the amount and timing of future expected cash flows, growth rates and appropriate discount rates. The amount and timing of future cash flows would be based on our most recent long-term financial projections. The discount rate we would utilize would be determined using estimates of market participant risk-adjusted weighted-average costs of capital and reflect the risks associated with achieving future cash flows.

We have elected December 31st as the annual impairment assessment date and perform additional impairment tests if triggering events occur. We performed our annual impairment test for the subscription and software reporting unit as of December 31, 2015 and, based upon the results of our qualitative assessment, determined that it was not likely that

its fair value was less than its carrying amount. As such, we did not perform the two-step goodwill impairment test and did not recognize impairment losses as a result of our analysis. If an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value, goodwill will be evaluated for impairment between annual tests.

5. Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the periods presented was primarily the result of income earned in the U.S., taxed at U.S. federal and state statutory income tax rates, income earned in foreign tax jurisdictions taxed at the applicable rates, as well as the impact of permanent differences between book and tax income.

Table of Contents

Our effective tax rate for the three months ended December 31, 2015 was 34.7% as compared to 34.3% for the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year. Our effective tax rate for the six months ended December 31, 2015 was 34.8% as compared to 34.9% for the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year. During the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, our income tax expense was driven primarily by pre-tax profitability in our domestic and foreign operations and the impact of permanent items, predominately a U.S. domestic production activity deduction, slightly offset by non-deductible stock-based compensation expense. Our effective tax rate for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 differs from the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate primarily as a result of the impact of the permanent items.

We use the with and without ordering approach to calculate our tax provision. This methodology requires us to utilize all other tax attributes before recognizing excess tax benefits. Excess tax benefits are generated when the deductible value of stock-based compensation for income tax purposes exceeds the value recognized for financial statement purposes. Excess tax benefits are not included as a component of deferred tax assets. When realized, excess tax benefits reduce income taxes payable and increase additional paid in capital. In our unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows, the excess tax benefits of \$1.8 million and \$7.7 million were reported as sources of cash flows from financing activities with offsetting reductions to cash flows from operating activities during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Deferred income taxes are recognized based on temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the statutory tax rates and laws expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided against net deferred tax assets if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and the timing of the temporary differences becoming deductible. Management considers, among other available information, scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, limitations of availability of net operating loss carryforwards, and other matters in making this assessment.

We do not provide deferred taxes on unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries since we intend to indefinitely reinvest those earnings either currently or sometime in the foreseeable future. Unrecognized provisions for taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are considered indefinitely reinvested, are not material to our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

6. Fair Value

We determine fair value by utilizing a fair value hierarchy that ranks the quality and reliability of the information used in its determination. Fair values determined using Level 1 inputs utilize unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access. Fair values determined using Level 2 inputs utilize data points that are observable, such as quoted prices, interest rates and yield curves for similar assets and liabilities.

Cash equivalents of \$127.8 million and \$130.2 million as of December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015, respectively, were reported at fair value utilizing quoted market prices in identical markets, or Level 1 inputs. Our cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid investments with remaining maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Marketable securities of \$29.9 million and \$62.2 million as of December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015, respectively, were reported at fair value calculated in accordance with the market approach, utilizing market consensus pricing models with quoted prices that were directly or indirectly

observable, or Level 2 inputs.

Financial instruments not measured or recorded at fair value in the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements consist of accounts receivable, installments receivable and accounts payable. The estimated fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying value.

Table of Contents

7. Supplementary Balance Sheet Information

Our accounts receivable, net of the related allowance for doubtful accounts, were as follows as of December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015.

| | Gross | | llowance s in Thousands) | Net |
|---------------------|--------------|----|-----------------------------|--------------|
| December 31, 2015: | | | | |
| Accounts receivable | \$ 16,698 | \$ | 1,921 | \$ 14,777 |
| | \$ 16,698 | \$ | 1,921 | \$ 14,777 |
| | | | | |
| June 30, 2015: | | | | |
| Accounts receivable | \$ 32,357 | \$ | 1,636 | \$ 30,721 |
| | \$ 32,357 | \$ | 1,636 | \$ 30,721 |

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements in the accompanying unaudited consolidated balance sheets consisted of the following:

| | ember 31, 2015 (Dollars in 1 | Fhousan | June 30, 2015 ds) |
|---|------------------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|
| Property, equipment and leasehold improvements - at cost: | | | |
| Computer equipment | \$ 11,260 | \$ | 11,614 |
| Purchased software | 23,385 | | 23,338 |
| Furniture & fixtures | 6,724 | | 6,653 |
| Leasehold improvements | 12,139 | | 12,225 |
| Accumulated depreciation | (36,459) | | (35,791) |
| Property, equipment and leasehold improvements - net | \$ 17,049 | \$ | 18,039 |

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the accompanying unaudited consolidated balance sheets consist of the following:

| | mber 31, 2015 (Dollars in | Thousand | June 30, 2015 (s) |
|--|---------------------------------|----------|-------------------------|
| Royalties and outside commissions | \$ 3,035 | \$ | 2,879 |
| Payroll and payroll-related | 12,117 | | 18,965 |
| Other | 14,844 | | 16,639 |
| Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities | \$ 29,996 | \$ | 38,483 |

Other non-current liabilities in the accompanying unaudited consolidated balance sheets consist of the following:

Edgar Filing: ASPEN TECHNOLOGY INC /DE/ - Form 10-Q

| | Dec | cember 31, 2015 (Dollars in | Thousan | June 30, 2015 ds) |
|-------------------------------------|-----|-----------------------------------|---------|-------------------------|
| Deferred rent | \$ | 6,013 | \$ | 5,273 |
| Other (1) | | 24,047 | | 24,249 |
| Total other non-current liabilities | \$ | 30,060 | \$ | 29,522 |

Other was comprised primarily of our reserve for uncertain tax positions of \$22.5 million and \$22.6 million as of December 31, 2015 and June 30, 2015, respectively.

| m | . 1 | | c | \sim | | | |
|----------|-----|---|----|--------------|----|----|-----|
| Tal | hl | e | Ωt | \mathbf{C} | าท | te | nts |

| 8. Stock-Based Compensation |
|-----------------------------|
|-----------------------------|

Stock Compensation Plans and General Award Terms

We have issued stock options and restricted stock units (RSUs) to our employees and outside directors, pursuant to our 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2005 Plan) and our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2010 Plan). The 2005 Plan was approved by the stockholders on May 26, 2005 and expired on March 31, 2015.

Option awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the market closing price of our stock on the trading day prior to the grant date; those options generally vest over four years and expire within 7 or 10 years of grant. RSUs generally vest over four years. Historically, our practice has been to settle stock option exercises and RSU vesting through newly-issued shares.

Stock-Based Compensation Accounting

We recognize stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis, net of forfeitures, over the requisite service period for time-vested awards. Our share-based awards are accounted for as equity instruments. Our policy is to issue new shares upon the exercise of stock awards.

We utilize the Black-Scholes option valuation model for estimating the fair value of options granted. The Black-Scholes option valuation model incorporates assumptions regarding expected stock price volatility, the expected life of the option, the risk-free interest rate, dividend yield and the market value of our common stock. The expected stock price volatility is determined based on our stock s historic prices over a period commensurate with the expected life of the award. The expected life of an option represents the period for which options are expected to be outstanding as determined by historic option exercises and post-vesting cancellations. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve for notes with terms approximating the expected life of the options granted. The expected dividend yield is zero, based on our history and expectation of not paying dividends on common shares.

The weighted average estimated fair value of option awards granted during the three months ended December 31, 2015 was \$12.39. There were no option awards granted during the three months ended December 31, 2014. The weighted average estimated fair value of option awards granted during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was \$13.52 and \$13.64, respectively.

We utilized the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Six Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014

Risk-free interest rate 1.4% 1.5%

| Expected dividend yield | 0.0% | 0.0% |
|----------------------------|-------|-------|
| Expected life (in years) | 4.6 | 4.5 |
| Expected volatility factor | 34.1% | 35.0% |
| | | |

Table of Contents

The stock-based compensation expense and its classification in the unaudited consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

| | Three Months Ended December 31, | | | Six Months Ended December 31, | | | d | |
|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------|----|----------------------------------|---------|-------|----|-------|
| | | 2015 | | 2014 | | 2015 | | 2014 |
| | | | | (Dollars in | Thousan | ds) | | |
| Recorded as expenses: | | | | | | | | |
| Cost of services and other | \$ | 350 | \$ | 339 | \$ | 707 | \$ | 677 |
| Selling and marketing | | 837 | | 754 | | 1,750 | | 1,504 |
| Research and development | | 848 | | 973 | | 1,672 | | 1,964 |
| General and administrative | | 1,477 | | 1,396 | | 3,806 | | 3,521 |
| Total stock-based compensation | \$ | 3.512 | \$ | 3,462 | \$ | 7.935 | \$ | 7,666 |

A summary of stock option and RSU activity under all equity plans for the six months ended December 31, 2015 is as follows:

| | Stock Options Weighted | | | | | | Restricted Stock Units | | | |
|---|------------------------|--------|---------------------------------------|---|------|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------|--|--|
| | Shares | A E | eighted verage xercise Price | Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term | Intr | ggregate insic Value in 000 s) | Shares | Av Gra | eighted verage ant Date r Value | |
| Outstanding at June 30, | | | | | | | | | | |
| 2015 | 1,214,257 | \$ | 27.25 | 7.26 | \$ | 22,232 | 542,432 | \$ | 36.13 | |
| Granted | 379,315 | | 43.95 | | | | 347,975 | | 43.94 | |
| Settled (RSUs) | | | | | | | (164,812) | | 36.35 | |
| Exercised | (115,474) | | 21.14 | | | | | | | |
| Cancelled / Forfeited | (85,970) | | 36.24 | | | | (93,238) | | 36.02 | |
| Outstanding at | | | | | | | | | | |
| December 31, 2015 | 1,392,128 | \$ | 31.75 | 7.54 | \$ | 12,075 | 632,357 | \$ | 40.39 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Vested and exercisable at | | | | | | | | | | |
| December 31, 2015 | 796,089 | \$ | 24.95 | 6.51 | \$ | 11,144 | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2015 | 1,320,061 | \$ | 31.26 | 7.46 | \$ | 11,950 | 556,672 | \$ | 40.40 | |

The weighted average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted during the three months ended December 31, 2015 was \$38.04. There were no RSUs granted during the three months ended December 31, 2014. The weighted average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was \$43.94 and \$43.44, respectively. During the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the total fair value of shares vested from RSU grants was \$2.9 million and \$3.5 million, respectively, and during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was \$6.3 million and \$7.7 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2015, the total future unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options was \$6.6 million and is expected to be recorded over a weighted average period of 2.9 years. At December 31, 2015, the total future unrecognized compensation cost related to RSUs was \$22.1 million and is expected to be recorded over a weighted average period of 2.8 years.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was \$1.4 million and \$0.7 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was \$2.3 million and \$3.0 million, respectively. We received \$2.4 million and \$1.5 million in cash proceeds from option exercises during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. We withheld \$2.1 million and \$2.7 million for withholding taxes on vested RSUs during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

At December 31, 2015, common stock reserved for future issuance or settlement under equity compensation plans was 5.6 million shares.

| Table of Contents |
|--|
| 9. Stockholders Deficit |
| Stock Repurchases |
| On January 28, 2015, we publicly announced a share repurchase program for up to \$450 million worth of our common stock and terminated the previous program that had been approved by the Board of Directors on April 23, 2014. The previous program had an authorized value of up to \$200 million and remaining capacity of approximately \$25.4 million when terminated. The timing and amount of any shares repurchased are based on market conditions and other factors. All shares of our common stock repurchased have been recorded as treasury stock under the cost method. |
| We repurchased 1,339,499 shares of our common stock for \$55.1 million during the three months ended September 30, 2015. We did not repurchase shares of our common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2015. We repurchased 7,731,428 shares of our common stock for \$298.3 million during fiscal 2015. As of December 31, 2015, the remaining dollar value under the stock repurchase program approved on January 28, 2015 was \$246.3 million. |
| Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income |
| As of December 31, 2015, accumulated other comprehensive income was comprised of foreign translation adjustments of \$4.3 million and net unrealized losses on available for sale securities of less than \$0.1 million. As of December 31, 2014, accumulated other comprehensive income was comprised of foreign translation adjustments of \$6.9 million and net unrealized losses on available for sale securities of \$0.1 million. |
| As of June 30, 2015, accumulated other comprehensive income was comprised of foreign translation adjustments of \$6.5 million and net unrealized losses on available for sale securities of less than \$0.1 million. As of June 2014, accumulated other comprehensive income was comprised of foreign translation adjustments of \$9.4 million and net unrealized gains on available for sale securities of less than \$0.1 million. |
| 10. Net Income Per Share |

Basic income per share is determined by dividing net income by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted income per share is determined by dividing net income by diluted weighted average shares outstanding during the period. Diluted weighted average shares reflect the dilutive effect, if any, of potential common shares. To the extent their effect is dilutive, employee equity awards and other commitments to be settled in common stock are included in the calculation of diluted net income per share based on the treasury stock

method.

The calculations of basic and diluted net income per share and basic and dilutive weighted average shares outstanding for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

| | Three Mor Decem | | | | Six Month Decemb | | d |
|-------------------------------------|--|----|--------|----|---------------------|----|--------|
| | 2015 | | 2014 | | 2015 | | 2014 |
| | (Dollars and Shares in Thousands, Except per Share Data) | | | | | | |
| | 26.602 | Φ. | 20.464 | Φ. | | φ. | ~ |
| Net income | \$ 36,683 | \$ | 30,464 | \$ | 73,454 | \$ | 59,432 |
| | | | | | | | |
| Weighted average shares outstanding | 83,315 | | 89,942 | | 83,596 | | 90,562 |
| | | | | | | | |
| Dilutive impact from: | | | | | | | |
| Share-based payment awards | 388 | | 529 | | 439 | | 634 |
| Dilutive weighted average shares | | | | | | | |
| outstanding | 83,703 | | 90,471 | | 84,035 | | 91,196 |
| | · | | · | | ŕ | | , i |
| Income per share | | | | | | | |
| Basic | \$ 0.44 | \$ | 0.34 | \$ | 0.88 | \$ | 0.66 |
| Dilutive | \$ 0.44 | \$ | 0.34 | \$ | 0.87 | \$ | 0.65 |

For the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, certain employee equity awards were anti-dilutive based on the treasury stock method. Additionally, during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015, options to purchase 589,299 shares of our common stock were not included in the computation of dilutive weighted average shares outstanding, as of December 31, 2015, because their exercise prices ranged from \$41.87 per share to \$47.40 per share and were greater than the average market price of our common stock during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015. These options were outstanding as of December 31, 2015

Table of Contents

and expire at various dates through August 3, 2025.

The following employee equity awards were excluded from the calculation of dilutive weighted average shares outstanding because their effect would be anti-dilutive as of December 31, 2015 and 2014:

| | Three Months December | | Six Months Ended December 31, | | | |
|------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------------|------|--|--|
| | 2015 | 2014 (Shares in Th | 2015 | 2014 | | |
| | | (Shares III Th | ousanus) | | | |
| Employee equity awards | 1,108 | 832 | 1,072 | 640 | | |

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

We lease certain facilities under non-cancellable operating leases with terms in excess of one year. Rental expense on leased facilities under operating leases was approximately \$2.1 million during the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 and \$4.1 million and \$3.8 million during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

In August 2015, we executed a lease amendment for our Houston, Texas, location. The amendment extended the original lease termination date from July 2016 until February 2023 and increased future non-cancelable lease payments from \$1.8 million to \$7.0 million (\$9.9 million of base rent net of \$2.9 million landlord incentive applied against base rent). Base annual rent under the amended lease ranges between \$1.3 million and \$1.5 million, excluding our pro-rata share of taxes and expenses.

In August 2015, we entered into a new lease agreement for our office location in Singapore. The initial term of the lease is for 60 months and approximately 11,343 square feet, commencing December 2015. Base annual rent is \$0.6 million, excluding our proportionate share of taxes and other expenses. Subject to the terms and conditions of the lease, we may extend the lease for an additional 36 month term. Future minimum non-cancelable lease payments due over the term of the lease amount to approximately \$3.1 million. Aggregate capital expenditures, including leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment, with respect to the leased premises amounted to approximately \$1.0 million in fiscal 2016.

Standby letters of credit for \$3.7 million as of December 31, 2015 secure our performance on professional services contracts, certain facility leases and potential liabilities. This is an increase from \$2.2 million as of June 30, 2015. The letters of credit expire at various dates through fiscal 2025.

Legal Matters

In the ordinary course of business, we are, from time to time, involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations, proceedings and threats of litigation. These matters include an April 2004 claim by a customer that certain of our software products and implementation services failed to meet the customer s expectations. In March 2014, a judgment was issued in favor of the claimant customer against us in the amount of approximately 1.9 million Euro () plus interest and a portion of legal fees. We subsequently filed an appeal of that judgment. In December 2015, the appellate court determined that we must pay damages in the amount of approximately 1.2 million plus interest, with the possibility of additional damages to be determined by the appellate court.

While the outcome of the proceedings and claims referenced above cannot be predicted with certainty, there were no such matters, as of December 31, 2015 that, in the opinion of management, are reasonably possible to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Liabilities, if applicable, related to the aforementioned matters discussed in this Note have been included in our accrued liabilities at December 31, 2015, and are not material to our financial position for the period then ended. As of December 31, 2015, we do not believe that there is a reasonable possibility of a material loss exceeding the amounts already accrued for the proceedings or matters discussed above. However, the results of litigation (including the above-referenced appeal proceedings) and claims cannot be predicted with certainty; unfavorable resolutions are possible and could materially affect our results of operations, cash flows or financial position. In addition, regardless of the outcome, litigation could have an adverse impact on us because of attorneys fees and costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Table of Contents

12. Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that engage in business activities for which discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and to assess performance. Our chief operating decision maker is our President and Chief Executive Officer.

The subscription and software segment is engaged in the licensing of process optimization software solutions and associated support services. The services segment includes professional services and training.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies (refer to Note 2 in the financial statements of our Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2015). We do not track assets or capital expenditures by operating segments. Consequently, it is not practical to present assets, capital expenditures, depreciation or amortization by operating segments.

The following table presents a summary of our reportable segments profits:

| | | bscription d software | (Dalla | Services ars in Thousands) | | Total |
|--------------------------------------|----|--------------------------|--------|-------------------------------|----|-----------|
| Three Months Ended December 31, 2015 | | | (Dolla | ars III Thousanus) | | |
| Segment revenue | \$ | 110,126 | \$ | 9,025 | \$ | 119,151 |
| Segment revenue Segment expenses (1) | Ψ | (42,126) | Ψ | (6,921) | Ψ | (49,047) |
| Segment profit | \$ | 68,000 | \$ | 2,104 | \$ | 70,104 |
| Three Months Ended December 31, 2014 | Ψ | 00,000 | Ψ | 2,104 | Ψ | 70,104 |
| Segment revenue | \$ | 98,716 | \$ | 9,074 | \$ | 107,790 |
| Segment expenses (1) | Ψ | (43,986) | Ψ | (7,057) | Ψ | (51,043) |
| Segment profit | \$ | 54,730 | \$ | 2,017 | \$ | 56,747 |
| Segment profit | Ψ | 51,750 | Ψ | 2,017 | Ψ | 30,717 |
| Six Months Ended December 31, 2015 | | | | | | |
| Segment revenue | \$ | 221,985 | \$ | 17,462 | \$ | 239,447 |
| Segment expenses (1) | Ψ | (86,401) | Ψ | (14,651) | Ψ | (101,052) |
| Segment profit | \$ | 135,584 | \$ | 2,811 | \$ | 138,395 |
| ~-6 F | * | 200,00 | - | _,,,,, | - | 200,000 |
| Six Months Ended December 31, 2014 | | | | | | |
| Segment revenue | \$ | 197,459 | \$ | 17,457 | \$ | 214,916 |
| Segment expenses (1) | | (87,073) | · | (14,237) | · | (101,310) |
| Segment profit | \$ | 110,386 | \$ | 3,220 | \$ | 113,606 |
| • • | | * | | * | | * |

Our reportable segments operating expenses include expenses directly attributable to the segments. Segment expenses include selling and marketing, research and development, stock-based compensation and certain corporate expenses incurred in support of the segments. Segment expenses do not include allocations of general and administrative; restructuring; interest income, net; and other (income) expense, net.

Table of Contents

Reconciliation to Income Before Income Taxes

The following table presents a reconciliation of total segment profit to income before income taxes for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:

| | | Three Mor Decem | | ded | | Six Months Ended December 31, | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|------|--------------------|----|-------------|--------|----------------------------------|----|----------|--|--|
| | 2015 | | | 2014 | | 2015 | | 2014 | | |
| | | | | (Dollars in | Thousa | nds) | | | | |
| Total segment profit for reportable | | | | | | | | | | |
| segments | \$ | 70,104 | \$ | 56,747 | \$ | 138,395 | \$ | 113,606 | | |
| General and administrative | | (13,805) | | (10,226) | | (26,667) | | (22,451) | | |
| Other income (expense), net | | (157) | | (248) | | 739 | | (60) | | |
| Interest income (net) | | 58 | | 128 | | 139 | | 261 | | |
| Income before income taxes | \$ | 56,200 | \$ | 46,401 | \$ | 112,606 | \$ | 91.356 | | |

13. Subsequent Events

On January 12, 2016, we announced the terms of a recommended all cash offer (the Offer) for the entire issued and to be issued share capital of KBC Advanced Technologies plc (KBC). Under the terms of the Offer, KBC shareholders will receive 185 Pence Sterling in cash for each share. (Pence Sterling is a subdivision of Pound Sterling [\pounds]). The transaction values KBC at approximately £158 million. The payment amount in U.S. dollars will depend on the exchange rate at the time the transaction closes. Both companies boards of directors unanimously support the transaction. The Offer is conditioned on, among other things, KBC s shareholder approval and the approval of the High Court of Justice in England and Wales. It is expected that the transaction will close in the first calendar quarter of 2016 (the Acquisition).

The Offer will be funded by cash on hand of approximately \$91.0 million and a Bridge Credit Agreement (the Bridge Credit Agreement) entered into on January 12, 2016 with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent (JPMCB), and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner, and the lenders party thereto. The Bridge Credit Agreement provides a principal amount of up to \$140.0 million with a maturity of 364 days from the date of the first drawdown. Borrowings under the Bridge Credit Agreement bear interest and are secured by liens on substantially all of our assets. We are required to grant such liens in favor of the lenders prior to the first drawdown. As of January 28, 2016, we had not drawn down on the Bridge Credit Agreement and would only do so if permanent financing were not in place prior to the closing of the Acquisition. We intend to obtain permanent financing, in the form of revolving credit facility, prior to the closing of the Acquisition, to replace the Bridge Credit Agreement.

On January 11, 2016, we paid \$1.1 million in fees to JPMCB to secure the Bridge Credit Agreement and placed \$115.1 million in escrow, representing \$91.0 million of consideration payable under the terms of the Offer, \$23.1 million to fund potential foreign exchange fluctuations in the purchase price and \$1.0 million of costs that may become payable to JPMCB under the Bridge Credit Agreement.

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes beginning on page 7. In addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read Item 1A. Risk Factors, of Part II for a discussion of important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our expectations.

Our fiscal year ends on June 30th, and references in this Quarterly Report to a specific fiscal year are to the twelve months ended June 30th of such year (for example, fiscal 2016 refers to the year ending on June 30, 2016).

Acquisition

On January 12, 2016, we announced the terms of a recommended all cash offer (the Offer) for the entire issued and to be issued share capital of KBC Advanced Technologies plc (KBC). Under the terms of the Offer, KBC shareholders will receive 185 Pence Sterling in cash for each share. (Pence Sterling is a subdivision of Pound Sterling [£]). The transaction values KBC at approximately £158 million. The payment amount in U.S. dollars will depend on the exchange rate at the time the transaction closes. Both companies boards of directors unanimously support the transaction. The Offer is conditioned on, among other things, KBC s shareholder approval and the approval of the High Court of Justice in England and Wales. It is expected that the transaction will close in the first calendar quarter of 2016 (the Acquisition).

KBC is a leading provider of strategic consulting and software to the oil and gas industry, focused on operational excellence and profit improvement for both the upstream (oil production) and downstream (oil refining and refinery-integrated petrochemicals) segments. We believe that the Acquisition will drive greater adoption and usage of our expanding suite of software solutions and provide synergies that will create a highly differentiated solution for the refining industry.

The Offer will be funded by cash on hand of approximately \$91.0 million and a Bridge Credit Agreement (the Bridge Credit Agreement) entered into on January 12, 2016 with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent (JPMCB), and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner, and the lenders party thereto. The Bridge Credit Agreement provides a principal amount of up to \$140.0 million with a maturity of 364 days from the date of the first drawdown. Borrowings under the Bridge Credit Agreement bear interest and are secured by liens on substantially all of our assets. We are required to grant such liens in favor of the lenders prior to the first drawdown. As of January 28, 2016, we had not drawn down on the Bridge Credit Agreement and would only do so if permanent financing were not in place prior to the closing of the Acquisition. We intend to obtain permanent financing, in the form of revolving credit facility, prior to the closing of the Acquisition, to replace the Bridge Credit Agreement.

On January 11, 2016, we paid \$1.1 million in fees to JPMCB to secure the Bridge Credit Agreement and placed \$115.1 million in escrow, representing \$91.0 million of consideration payable under the terms of the Offer, \$23.1 million to fund potential foreign exchange fluctuations in the purchase price and \$1.0 million of costs that may become payable to JPMCB under the Bridge Credit Agreement.

Business Overview

We are a leading global provider of mission-critical process optimization software solutions designed to manage and optimize plant and process design, operational performance, and supply chain planning. Our aspenONE software and related services have been developed specifically for companies in the process industries, including the energy, chemicals, and engineering and construction industries. Customers use our solutions to improve their competitiveness and profitability by increasing throughput and productivity, reducing operating costs, enhancing capital efficiency, and decreasing working capital requirements.

Our software incorporates our proprietary mathematical and empirical models of manufacturing and planning processes and reflects the deep domain expertise we have amassed from focusing on solutions for the process industries for over 30 years. We have developed our applications to design and optimize processes across three principal business areas: engineering, manufacturing and supply chain. We are a recognized market and technology leader in providing process optimization software for each of these business areas.

We have established sustainable competitive advantages within our industry based on the following strengths:

- Innovative products that can enhance our customers profitability;
- Long-term customer relationships;
- Large installed base of users of our software; and
- Long-term license contracts with historically high renewal rates.

Table of Contents

We have approximately 2,100 customers globally. Our customers consist of companies engaged in process industries such as energy, chemicals, engineering and construction, as well as consumer packaged goods, power, metals and mining, pulp and paper, pharmaceuticals and biofuels.

We license our software products primarily through a subscription offering which we refer to as our aspenONE licensing model. Our aspenONE products are organized into two suites: 1) engineering and 2) manufacturing and supply chain, or MSC. The aspenONE licensing model provides customers with access to all of the products within the aspenONE suite(s) they license. Customers can change or alternate the use of multiple products in a licensed suite through the use of exchangeable units of measurement, called tokens, licensed in quantities determined by the customer. This licensing system enables customers to use products as needed and to experiment with different products to best solve whatever critical business challenges they face. Customers can increase their usage of our software by purchasing additional tokens as business needs evolve. We believe easier access to all of the aspenONE products will lead to increased software usage and higher revenue over time.

Transition to the aspenONE Licensing Model

Prior to fiscal 2010, we offered term or perpetual licenses to specific products, or specifically defined sets of products, which we refer to as point products. The majority of our license revenue was recognized under an upfront revenue model, in which the net present value of the aggregate license fees was recognized as revenue upon shipment of the point products, provided all revenue recognition criteria were met. Customers typically received one year of post-contract software maintenance and support, or SMS, with their license agreements and then could elect to renew SMS annually. Revenue from SMS was recognized ratably over the period in which the SMS was delivered.

In fiscal 2010, we introduced the following changes to our licensing model:

- (i) We began offering our software on a subscription basis allowing our customers access to all products within a licensed suite (aspenONE Engineering or aspenONE Manufacturing and Supply Chain). SMS is included for the entire term of the arrangement and customers are entitled to any software products or updates introduced into the licensed suite. We refer to this license arrangement as our aspenONE licensing model.
- (ii) We began to include SMS for the entire term on our point product term arrangements.

In fiscal 2012, we introduced Premier Plus SMS. As part of this offering, customers receive 24x7 support, faster response times, dedicated technical advocates and access to web-based training modules. Premier Plus SMS is exclusively available as a component of our term contract arrangements and we are unable to establish VSOE for this deliverable because we don t offer it on a stand-alone basis.

Revenue related to our aspenONE licensing model and point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS are both recognized over the term of the arrangement on a ratable basis. The changes to our licensing model resulted in a significant reduction in license revenue in fiscal 2010, as compared to fiscal periods preceding our licensing model changes. From fiscal 2010 through fiscal 2015, as customer license arrangements previously executed under the upfront revenue model reached the end of their terms and were renewed under the aspenONE licensing model, we

recognized increasing amounts of subscription revenue and deferred revenue. The value of our installed base of software licenses was also growing during this period, which further contributed to growth in subscription and deferred revenue. Many of our license arrangements were five or six years in duration when the aspenONE licensing model was introduced at the start of fiscal 2010, and consequently, a number of arrangements executed under the upfront revenue model did not reach the end of their original term until the end of fiscal 2015. For fiscal 2016 and beyond, we do not expect the changes to our licensing model to have a material impact on subscription revenue or deferred revenue.

The changes to our licensing model introduced in fiscal 2010 did not change the method or timing of customer billings or cash collections. In addition, the changes to our licensing model did not impact the incurrence or timing of our expenses. Since there was no corresponding expense reduction to offset the lower revenue during fiscal years 2010 through 2015, operating income was lower than what would have been reported under a fully transitioned revenue model.

Revenue

We generate revenue primarily from the following sources:

Subscription and software. We provide integrated process optimization software solutions designed specifically for process industries. We license our software products, together with SMS, primarily on a term basis, and we offer extended payment options for our term license agreements that generally require annual payments, which we also refer to as installments. We

Table of Contents

provide customers technical support, access to software fixes and updates and the right to any new unspecified future software products and updates that may be introduced into the licensed aspenONE software suite. Our technical support services are provided from our customer support centers throughout the world, as well as via email and through our support website.

Services and other. We provide training and professional services to our customers. Our professional services are focused on implementing our technology in order to improve customers plant performance and gain better operational data.

| months. We charge | e our professional services typically engage us to provide those services over periods of up to 24 c customers for professional services on a time-and-materials or fixed-price basis. We provide our customers, including on-site, Internet-based and customized training. |
|---|---|
| Key Components of C | Operations |
| Revenue | |
| Subscription and Softw following sources: | are Revenue. Our subscription and software revenue consists of product and related revenue from the |
| (i) | aspenONE licensing model; |
| | point product arrangements with our Premier Plus SMS offering included for the contract term at product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS); |
| legacy term arrange | egacy arrangements including (a) amendments to existing legacy term arrangements, (b) renewals of ements and (c) legacy arrangements that are being recognized over time as a result of not gone or more of the requirements for recognition under the upfront revenue model; |
| (iv) leş | gacy SMS arrangements; and |

perpetual arrangements.

(v)

Services and Other Revenue. Our services and other revenue consists primarily of revenue related to professional services and training. The amount and timing of this revenue depend on a number of factors, including:

- whether the professional services arrangement was sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new aspenONE licensing arrangement;
- the number, value and rate per hour of service transactions booked during the current and preceding periods;
- the number and availability of service resources actively engaged on billable projects;
- the timing of milestone acceptance for engagements contractually requiring customer sign-off;
- the timing of collection of cash payments when collectability is uncertain; and
- the size of the installed base of license contracts.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of Subscription and Software. Our cost of subscription and software revenue consists of (i) royalties, (ii) amortization of capitalized software and purchased technology intangibles, (iii) distribution fees, (iv) costs of providing Premier Plus SMS bundled with our aspenONE licensing and point product arrangements; and (v) costs of providing legacy SMS.

Cost of Services and Other. Our cost of services and other revenue consists primarily of personnel-related and external consultant costs associated with providing customers professional services and training.

Operating Expenses

Selling and Marketing Expenses. Selling expenses consist primarily of the personnel and travel expenses related to the effort expended to license our products and services to current and potential customers, as well as for overall management of customer relationships. Marketing expenses include expenses needed to promote our company and our products and to conduct market research to help us better understand our customers and their business needs.

Table of Contents

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses related to the creation of new software products, enhancements and engineering changes to existing products and costs of acquired technology prior to establishing technological feasibility.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses include the costs of corporate and support functions, such as executive leadership and administration groups, finance, legal, human resources and corporate communications, and other costs, such as outside professional and consultant fees, and provision for bad debts.

Other Income and Expenses

Interest Income. Interest income is recorded for the accretion of interest on the installment payments of our term software license contracts when revenue is recognized upfront at net present value, and from the investment in marketable securities and short-term money market instruments.

Interest Expense. During the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, interest expense was comprised of miscellaneous interest charges.

Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net is comprised primarily of foreign currency exchange gains (losses) generated from the settlement and remeasurement of transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our operating units.

Provision for Income Taxes. Provision for income taxes is comprised of domestic and foreign taxes. We record interest and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of income tax expense. We expect the amount of income tax expense to vary each reporting period depending upon fluctuations in our taxable income by jurisdiction.

Key Business Metrics

Background

The changes to our licensing model in fiscal 2010 resulted in a reduction to license revenue in fiscal 2010, as compared to the fiscal years preceding our licensing model changes. By fiscal 2013, the number of license arrangements renewed on the aspenONE licensing model resulted

in sufficient ratable revenue to generate an operating profit, but we would not recognize levels of revenue reflective of the value of our active license agreements until all term license agreements executed under our upfront revenue model (i) reached the end of their original terms; and (ii) were renewed. As a result, we believed that until the revenue transition was completed, a number of our performance indicators based on GAAP, including revenue, gross profit, operating income (loss), net income (loss), and trend in deferred revenue, should be reviewed in conjunction with certain non-GAAP and other business measures in assessing our performance, growth and financial condition. During the transition period, from fiscal year 2010 through 2015, we utilized the following non-GAAP and other key business metrics to track our business performance.

| • | Total term contract value; |
|--|--|
| • | Annual spend; |
| • | Adjusted total costs; and |
| • | Free cash flow. |
| do not exp starting in and trend in Nonethele and we pla evolving b | e 30, 2015, we had fully transitioned our term license arrangements to the aspenONE licensing model. For fiscal 2016 and beyond, we seet the changes to our licensing model to have a material impact on subscription revenue results. Consequently, we believe that fiscal 2016, our performance indicators based on GAAP, including revenue, gross profit, operating income (loss), net income (loss), in deferred revenue, will provide a more meaningful representation of business performance. ss, we will continue to utilize certain key non-GAAP and other business measures to track and assess the performance of our business and to make these measures available to investors. We have refined the set of appropriate business metrics in the context of our business and in consideration of the completion of the revenue transition and now expect to use the following non-GAAP business addition to GAAP measures to track our business performance: |
| • | Annual spend; |
| • | Free cash flow; and |
| • | Non-GAAP operating income. |
| | |
| | 25 |

Table of Contents

The annual spend metric is closely related to the total term contract metric because both provide insight into the growth component of license bookings during a fiscal period. However, we believe that annual spend is a more meaningful metric because its value and growth rate are more closely related to the value and growth rate of subscription and software revenue. We now use non-GAAP operating income instead of adjusted total costs because non-GAAP operating income provides additional insight into our business and financial performance and incorporates the elements of adjusted total cost.

None of these metrics should be considered as an alternative to any measure of financial performance calculated in accordance with GAAP.

Annual Spend

Annual spend is an estimate of the annualized value of our portfolio of term license arrangements, as of a specific date. Annual spend is calculated by summing the most recent annual invoice value of each of our active term license contracts. Annual spend also includes the annualized value of standalone SMS agreements purchased in conjunction with term license agreements. Comparing annual spend for different dates can provide insight into the growth and retention rates of our business, and since annual spend represents the estimated annualized billings associated with our active term license agreements, it provides insight into the future value of subscription and software revenue.

Annual spend increases as a result of:

- New term license agreements with new or existing customers;
- Renewals or modifications of existing term license agreements that result in higher license fees due to price escalation or an increase in the number of tokens (units of software usage) or products licensed; and
- Escalation of annual payments in our active term license contracts.

Annual spend is adversely affected by term license and standalone SMS agreements that are not renewed.

We estimate that annual spend grew by approximately 1.6% during the second quarter of fiscal 2016, from \$423.4 million at September 30, 2015 to \$430.3 million at December 31, 2015, and by approximately 2.6% during the first half of fiscal 2016, from \$419.3 million at June 30, 2015. The growth was attributable primarily to a larger number of tokens or products sold.

Free Cash Flow

We use a non-GAAP measure of free cash flow to analyze cash flows generated from our operations. Management believes that this financial measure is useful to investors because it permits investors to view our performance using the same tools that management uses to gauge progress in achieving our goals. We believe this measure is also useful to investors because it is an indication of cash flow that may be available to fund investments in future growth initiatives and a basis for comparing our performance with that of our competitors. The presentation of free cash flow is not meant to be considered in isolation or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity.

Free cash flow is calculated as net cash provided by operating activities adjusted for the net impact of (a) purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements, (b) capitalized computer software development costs, (c) excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation and (d) non-capitalized acquired technology.

Table of Contents

The following table provides a reconciliation of net cash flows provided by operating activities to free cash flow for the indicated periods:

| | Six Months Ended December 31, | | | | | | | | | |
|---|----------------------------------|---------|----|---------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | | 2015 | | 2014 | | | | | | |
| | (Dollars in Thousands) | | | | | | | | | |
| | _ | | _ | | | | | | | |
| Net cash provided by operating activities | \$ | 39,172 | \$ | 73,775 | | | | | | |
| Purchases of property, equipment, and leasehold | | | | | | | | | | |
| improvements | | (1,781) | | (4,328) | | | | | | |
| Capitalized computer software development costs | | | | (137) | | | | | | |
| Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation | | 1,831 | | 7,684 | | | | | | |
| Non-capitalized acquired technology | | 1,250 | | | | | | | | |
| Free cash flows (non-GAAP) | \$ | 40,472 | \$ | 76,994 | | | | | | |

Total free cash flow on a non-GAAP basis decreased by \$36.5 million during the six months ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the same period of the prior fiscal year primarily due to U.S tax payments amounting to \$34.5 million.

Excess tax benefits are related to stock-based compensation tax deductions in excess of book compensation expense and reduce our income taxes payable. We have included the impact of excess tax benefits in free cash flow to be consistent with the treatment of other tax benefits.

Non-GAAP Operating Income

Non-GAAP operating income excludes certain non-cash and non-recurring expenses, and is used as a supplement to operating income presented on a GAAP basis. We believe that non-GAAP operating income is a useful financial measure because excluding non-recurring and certain non-cash items, provides additional insight into recurring profitability and cash flow from operations.

The following table presents our operating income, as adjusted for stock-based compensation expense, non-capitalized acquired technology and amortization of purchased technology intangibles, for the indicated periods:

| | Three Months Ended December 31, | | | | 2 | 2015 Compared (| Six Months Ended December 31, | | | | 2015 Compared to 2014 | | |
|----------------------|---------------------------------|--------|----|--------|----|-----------------|----------------------------------|---------|----|--------|-----------------------|--------|--------|
| | | 2015 | | 2014 | | \$ | % | 2015 | | 2014 | | \$ | % |
| GAAP income from | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| operations | \$ | 56,299 | \$ | 46,521 | \$ | 9,778 | 21.0% \$ | 111,728 | \$ | 91,155 | \$ | 20,573 | 22.6% |
| Plus: | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Stock-based | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| compensation | | 3,512 | | 3,462 | | 50 | 1.4% | 7,935 | | 7,666 | | 269 | 3.5% |
| Non-capitalized | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| acquired technology | | | | | | | 0.0% | 250 | | | | 250 | 100.0% |
| Amortization of | | 20 | | 224 | | (204) | -91.1% | 133 | | 448 | | (315) | -70.3% |
| purchased technology | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

| intangibles | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|----------|---------|-----------------|--------|--------|
| Expense associated | | | | | | | | |
| with pending | | | | | | | | |
| Acquisition | 1,028 | | 1,028 | 100.0% | 1,028 | | 1,028 | 100.0% |
| Non-GAAP income | | | | | | | | |
| from operations | \$ 60,859 | \$ 50,207 | \$ 10,652 | 21.2% \$ | 121,074 | \$ 99,269 \$ | 21,805 | 22.0% |

Non-GAAP operating income increased by \$21.8 million or approximately 22.0% in the six months ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the same period of the prior fiscal year. Non-GAAP operating income increased \$10.6 million or approximately 21.2% in the three months ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the same period of the prior fiscal year.

In fiscal 2016, we acquired technology that did not meet the accounting requirements for capitalization and therefore the cost of the acquired technology was expensed as research and development. We have excluded the expense of the acquired technology from non-GAAP operating income to be consistent with transactions where the acquired assets were capitalized.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

Our unaudited consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our interim financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Table of Contents

| We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated v | with the following critics | al accounting policies have | the greatest potential impact on |
|--|----------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------------|
| our unaudited consolidated financial statements: | | | |

- revenue recognition;
- accounting for income taxes; and
- loss contingencies.

For further information with regard to our Significant Accounting Policies, please refer to Note 2 of our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.

Revenue Recognition

Four basic criteria must be satisfied before software license revenue can be recognized: persuasive evidence of an arrangement between us and an end user; delivery of our product has occurred; the fee for the product is fixed or determinable; and collection of the fee is probable.

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement We use a signed contract as evidence of an arrangement for software licenses and SMS. For professional services we use a signed contract and a work proposal to evidence an arrangement. In cases where both a signed contract and a purchase order are required by the customer, we consider both taken together as evidence of the arrangement.

Delivery of our product Software and the corresponding access keys are generally delivered to customers via disk media with standard shipping terms of Free Carrier, our warehouse (i.e., FCA, named place) or electronic delivery. Our software license agreements do not contain conditions for acceptance.

Fee is fixed or determinable We assess whether a fee is fixed or determinable at the outset of the arrangement. Significant judgment is involved in making this assessment.

Under our upfront revenue model, we are able to demonstrate that the fees are fixed or determinable for all arrangements, including those for our term licenses that contain extended payment terms. We have an established history of collecting under the terms of these contracts without providing concessions to customers. In addition, we also assess whether a contract modification to an existing term arrangement constitutes a concession. In making this assessment, significant analysis is performed to ensure that no concessions are given. Our software license agreements do not include a right of return or exchange. For license arrangements executed under the upfront revenue model, we recognize

license revenue upon delivery of the software product, provided all other revenue recognition requirements are met.

We cannot assert that the fees under our aspenONE licensing model and point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS are fixed or determinable because the rights provided to customers, and the economics of the arrangements, are not comparable to our transactions with other customers under the upfront revenue model. As a result, the amount of revenue recognized for these arrangements is limited by the amount of customer payments that become due.

Collection of fee is probable We assess the probability of collecting from each customer at the outset of the arrangement based on a number of factors, including the customer s payment history, its current creditworthiness, economic conditions in the customer s industry and geographic location, and general economic conditions. If in our judgment collection of a fee is not probable, revenue is recognized as cash is collected, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met.

Vendor-Specific Objective Evidence of Fair Value

We have established VSOE for certain SMS offerings, professional services, and training, but not for our software products or our Premier Plus SMS offering. We assess VSOE for SMS, professional services, and training based on an analysis of standalone sales of these offerings using the bell-shaped curve approach. We do not have a history of selling our Premier Plus SMS offering to customers on a standalone basis, and as a result are unable to establish VSOE for this deliverable. As of July 1, 2014, we were no longer able to establish VSOE for legacy SMS offerings sold with our perpetual license arrangements. As a result, all perpetual license agreements that include legacy SMS entered into subsequent to June 30, 2014 are recognized ratably over the legacy SMS service period. Loss of VSOE on legacy SMS offerings sold with our perpetual license arrangements did not have a material impact on our revenue during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and is not expected to have a material impact on our revenue in future periods.

We allocate the arrangement consideration among the elements included in our multi-element arrangements using the residual method. Under the residual method, the VSOE of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as revenue upon delivery of the software, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. If VSOE does not exist for an undelivered element in an arrangement, revenue is deferred until such evidence does exist for the undelivered elements, or

Table of Contents

until all elements are delivered, whichever is earlier. Under the upfront revenue model, the residual license fee is recognized upon delivery of the software provided all other revenue recognition criteria were met.

Subscription and Software Revenue

Subscription and software revenue consists of product and related revenue from our (i) aspenONE licensing model; (ii) point product arrangements with our Premier Plus SMS offering included for the contract term; (iii) legacy arrangements including (a) amendments to existing legacy term arrangements, (b) renewals of legacy term arrangements and (c) legacy arrangements that are being recognized over time as a result of not previously meeting one or more of the requirements for recognition under the upfront revenue model; (iv) legacy SMS arrangements; and (v) perpetual arrangements.

When a customer elects to license our products under our aspenONE licensing model, our Premier Plus SMS offering is included for the entire term of the arrangement and the customer receives, for the term of the arrangement, the right to any new unspecified future software products and updates that may be introduced into the licensed aspenONE software suite. Due to our obligation to provide unspecified future software products and updates, we are required to recognize revenue ratably over the term of the arrangement, once the other revenue recognition criteria noted above have been met.

Our point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS include SMS for the term of the arrangement. Since we do not have VSOE for our Premier Plus SMS offering, the SMS element of our point product arrangements is not separable. As a result, revenue associated with point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS included for the contract term is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement, once all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Perpetual and legacy term license arrangements do not include the same rights as those provided to customers under the aspenONE licensing model and point product arrangements with Premier Plus SMS. Legacy SMS revenue is generated from legacy SMS offerings provided in support of perpetual and legacy term license arrangements. Customers typically receive SMS for one year and then can elect to renew SMS annually. During fiscal 2014 and prior periods, we had VSOE for certain legacy SMS offerings sold with perpetual and term license arrangements and could therefore separate the undelivered elements. Accordingly, license fee revenue for perpetual and legacy term license arrangements was recognized upon delivery of the software products using the residual method, provided all other revenue recognition requirements were met. VSOE of fair value for the undelivered SMS component sold with our perpetual and term license arrangements was deferred and subsequently amortized into revenue ratably over the contractual term of the SMS arrangement. As of July 1, 2014, we were no longer able to establish VSOE for legacy SMS offerings sold with our perpetual license arrangements. As a result, all perpetual license agreements that include legacy SMS entered into subsequent to June 30, 2014 are recognized ratably over the legacy SMS service period. Loss of VSOE on legacy SMS offerings sold with our perpetual license arrangements did not have a material impact on our revenue during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and is not expected to have a material impact on our revenue in future periods.

Services and Other Revenue

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services are provided to customers on a time-and-materials (T&M) or fixed-price basis. We recognize professional services fees for our T&M contracts based upon hours worked and contractually agreed-upon hourly rates. Revenue from fixed-price engagements is recognized using the proportional performance method based on the ratio of costs incurred to the total estimated project costs. Project costs are typically expensed as incurred. The use of the proportional performance method is dependent upon our ability to reliably estimate the costs to complete a project. We use historical experience as a basis for future estimates to complete current projects. Additionally, we believe that costs are the best available measure of performance. Out-of-pocket expenses which are reimbursed by customers are recorded as revenue.

In certain circumstances, professional services revenue may be recognized over a longer time period than the period over which the services are performed. If the costs to complete a project are not estimable or the completion is uncertain, the revenue is recognized upon completion of the services. In circumstances in which professional services are sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new aspenONE license or point product arrangement with Premier Plus SMS, revenue is deferred and recognized on a ratable basis over the longer of (i) the period the services are performed, or (ii) the license term. When we provide professional services considered essential to the functionality of the software, we recognize the combined revenue from the sale of the software and related services using the completed contract or percentage-of-completion method.

Table of Contents

We have occasionally been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects, which resulted in losses on those contracts. Provisions for estimated losses on contracts are made during the period in which such losses become probable and can be reasonably estimated.

Training Revenue

We provide training services to our customers, including on-site, Internet-based, public and customized training. Revenue is recognized in the period in which the services are performed. In circumstances in which training services are sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new aspenONE license or point product arrangement with Premier Plus SMS, revenue is deferred and recognized on a ratable basis over the longer of (i) the period the services are performed or (ii) the license term.

Accounting for Income Taxes and Loss Contingencies

Please refer to Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result of Operations contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 for a discussion of our critical accounting policies and estimates related to accounting for income taxes and loss contingencies.

Table of Contents

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three and Six Months Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

The following table sets forth the results of operations and the period-over-period percentage change in certain financial data for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:

| | Three Mon | | | Increase / (Decrease) | ded | Increase / (Decrease) Change | | | |
|-------------------------------|---------------|---------------------------------------|---------|-----------------------|-----------------|------------------------------------|---------|-----------|--|
| | 2015 | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | Change % | Decembe 2015 | | 2014 | % | |
| Revenue: | | | | | | | | | |
| Subscription and software | \$ 110,126 | \$ | 98,716 | 11.6% \$ | 221,985 | \$ | 197,459 | 12.4% | |
| Services and other | 9,025 | | 9,074 | (0.5) | 17,462 | | 17,457 | | |
| Total revenue | 119,151 | | 107,790 | 10.5 | 239,447 | | 214,916 | 11.4 | |
| Cost of revenue: | | | | | | | | | |
| Subscription and software | 4,967 | | 5,208 | (4.6) | 10,209 | | 10,409 | (1.9) | |
| Services and other | 6,921 | | 7,057 | (1.9) | 14,651 | | 14,237 | 2.9 | |
| Total cost of revenue | 11,888 | | 12,265 | (3.1) | 24,860 | | 24,646 | 0.9 | |
| Gross profit | 107,263 | | 95,525 | 12.3 | 214,587 | | 190,270 | 12.8 | |
| Operating expenses: | | | | | | | | | |
| Selling and marketing | 21,178 | | 22,821 | (7.2) | 43,614 | | 44,439 | (1.9) | |
| Research and development | 15,981 | | 15,957 | 0.2 | 32,578 | | 32,225 | 1.1 | |
| General and administrative | 13,805 | | 10,226 | 35.0 | 26,667 | | 22,451 | 18.8 | |
| Total operating expenses, net | 50,964 | | 49,004 | 4.0 | 102,859 | | 99,115 | 3.8 | |
| Income from operations | 56,299 | | 46,521 | 21.0 | 111,728 | | 91,155 | 22.6 | |
| Interest income | 71 | | 132 | (46.2) | 153 | | 268 | (42.9) | |
| Interest expense | (13) | | (4) | 225.0 | (14) | | (7) | 100.0 | |
| Other income (expense), net | (157) | | (248) | (36.7) | 739 | | (60) | (1,331.7) | |
| Income before provision for | | | | | | | | | |
| income taxes | 56,200 | | 46,401 | 21.1 | 112,606 | | 91,356 | 23.3 | |
| Provision for income taxes | 19,517 | | 15,937 | 22.5 | 39,152 | | 31,924 | 22.6 | |
| Net income | \$ 36,683 | \$ | 30,464 | 20.4% \$ | 73,454 | \$ | 59,432 | 23.6% | |

Table of Contents

The following table sets forth the results of operations as a percentage of net revenue for certain financial data for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:

| | Three Months December | | Six Months December | |
|--|--------------------------|-------|---------------------|-------|
| | 2015 | 2014 | 2015 | 2014 |
| Revenue: | | | | |
| Subscription and software | 92.4% | 91.6% | 92.7% | 91.9% |
| Services and other | 7.6 | 8.4 | 7.3 | 8.1 |
| Total revenue | 100.0 | 100.0 | 100.0 | 100.0 |
| Cost of revenue: | | | | |
| Subscription and software | 4.2 | 4.8 | 4.3 | 4.8 |
| Services and other | 5.8 | 6.5 | 6.1 | 6.6 |
| Total cost of revenue | 10.0 | 11.4 | 10.4 | 11.5 |
| Gross profit | 90.0 | 88.6 | 89.6 | 88.5 |
| Operating expenses: | | | | |
| Selling and marketing | 17.8 | 21.2 | 18.2 | 20.7 |
| Research and development | 13.4 | 14.8 | 13.6 | 15.0 |
| General and administrative | 11.6 | 9.5 | 11.1 | 10.4 |
| Total operating expenses, net | 42.8 | 45.5 | 43.0 | 46.1 |
| Income from operations | 47.3 | 43.2 | 46.7 | 42.4 |
| Interest income | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.1 |
| Interest expense | | | | |
| Other (expense) income, net | (0.1) | (0.2) | 0.3 | |
| Income before provision for income taxes | 47.2 | 43.0 | 47.0 | 42.5 |
| Provision for income taxes | 16.4 | 14.8 | 16.4 | 14.9 |
| Net income | 30.8% | 28.3% | 30.7% | 27.7% |

Revenue

Total revenue increased by \$11.4 million and \$24.5 million during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the corresponding periods of the prior fiscal year. The increase was primarily attributable to higher subscription and software revenue of \$11.4 million and \$24.5 million, respectively.

During the six months ended December 31, 2015, we recognized revenue of \$2.9 million related to the completion of customer arrangements recognized under completed contract accounting. This amount was recognized as \$2.0 million of subscription and software revenue and \$0.9 million of services and other revenue. No such events occurred during the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year.

Subscription and Software Revenue

| Three Mor | hree Months Ended December 31, | Period-to | Six Mont | hs Ended | Period-to | -Period | |
|-----------|-----------------------------------|-----------|----------|----------|-----------|---------|-----|
| Decem | ber 31, | Cha | nge | Decem | ber 31, | Char | ıge |
| 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | 0% |

(Dollars in Thousands)

| Subscription and software revenue \$ | 110,126 | \$ | 98.716 | \$ | 11.410 | 11.6% \$ | 221.985 | \$ | 197,459 | \$ | 24,526 | 12.4% |
|--------------------------------------|---------|----|--------|----|--------|----------|---------|----|---------|----|--------|--------|
| As a percent of | 110,120 | Ψ | ,0,,10 | Ψ | 11,.10 | 11.070 φ | 221,500 | Ψ | 177,107 | Ψ | 21,020 | 12.170 |
| revenue | 92.4% | | 91.6% | | | | 92.7% | | 91.9% | | | |

The increase in subscription and software revenue during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year was primarily the result of a larger base of license arrangements being recognized on a ratable basis and \$2.0 million of revenue, recognized during the six months ended December 31, 2015, related to the completed contract customer arrangements, as noted above. No such events occurred during the corresponding period in the prior fiscal year.

We expect subscription and software revenue to continue to increase during fiscal 2016 as a result of: (i) having a larger base of license arrangements recognized on a ratable basis; (ii) increased customer usage of our software; (iii) adding new customers; and (iv) escalating annual payments.

Table of Contents

Services and Other Revenue

| | Three Mor | | Period-to-Per Change | | | Six Mont Decem | | Period-to-F | |
|-------------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------------------|--------------|-----|-------------------|--------------|-------------|------|
| | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % | | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % |
| | | | (1 | Dollars in T | hou | sands) | | | |
| Services and | | | | | | | | | |
| other revenue | \$ 9,025 | \$ 9,074 | \$ (49) | -0.5% | \$ | 17,462 | \$ 17,457 | \$ 5 | 0.0% |
| As a percent of revenue | 7.6% | 8.4% | | | | 7.3% | 8.1% | | |

Services and other revenue consists primarily of revenue related to professional services and training.

Services and other revenue for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 was consistent with the corresponding periods of the prior fiscal year.

Professional services revenue for the six months ended December 31, 2015 included recognition of \$0.9 million of revenue related to customer contracts recognized under completed contract accounting, as noted above.

Under the aspenONE licensing model, revenue from committed professional service arrangements that are sold as a single arrangement with, or in contemplation of, a new aspenONE licensing transaction is deferred and recognized on a ratable basis over the longer of (a) the period the services are performed or (b) the term of the related software arrangement. As our typical contract term approximates five years, professional services revenue on these types of arrangements will usually be recognized over a longer period than the period over which the services are performed.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased from \$95.5 million during the three months ended December 31, 2014 to \$107.3 million during the corresponding period of the current fiscal year. The period-over-period increase in gross profit was primarily attributable to the growth of our subscription and software revenue of \$11.4 million.

Gross profit increased from \$190.3 million during the six months ended December 31, 2014 to \$214.6 million during the corresponding period of the current fiscal year. The period-over-period increase in gross profit was primarily attributable to the growth of our subscription and software revenue of \$24.5 million.

Gross profit margin increased from 88.6% and 88.5% during the three and six months ended December 31, 2014 to 90.0% and 89.6% during each of the corresponding periods of the current fiscal year. For further discussion of subscription and software gross profit and services and other gross profit, please refer to the Cost of Subscription and Software Revenue and Cost of Services and Other Revenue sections below.

Expenses

Cost of Subscription and Software Revenue

| | Three Mon Decem | | Period-to-Period | riod | Six Months Decembe | | Period-to-Per Change | riod |
|--|--------------------|-------------|--|---------------|-----------------------|--------|-------------------------|-------|
| | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % |
| | | | (D | ollars in Tho | usands) | | | |
| Cost of subscription and software revenue As a percent of | \$ 4,967 | \$ 5,208 | \$ (241) | -4.6% | 10,209 | 10,409 | \$ (200) | -1.9% |
| revenue | 4.2% | 4.8% | | | 4.3% | 4.8% | | |

Cost of subscription and software revenue was consistent for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the corresponding periods of the prior fiscal year.

Subscription and software gross profit margin was 95.5% and 94.7% during the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Subscription and software gross profit margin was 95.4% and 94.7% during the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Table of Contents

Cost of Services and Other Revenue

| | | Three Mor Decem | | | Period-to-Pe | | | Six Mont Decem | | Period-to-Pe Change | |
|------------------------------------|----|--------------------|----|-------|--------------|--------------------|-----|-------------------|--------------|------------------------|-------|
| | | 2015 | | 2014 | \$ | % (Dollars in T | hou | 2015 (sands) | 2014 | \$ | % |
| Cost of services and other revenue | \$ | 6.921 | \$ | 7.057 | \$ (136) | -1.9% | \$ | 14,651 | \$ 14,237 | \$ 414 | 2.9% |
| As a percent of revenue | Ψ | 5.8% | - | 6.5% | (130) | 1.5 % | Ψ | 6.1% | 6.6% | 117 | 2.9 % |

Cost of services and other revenue includes the cost of providing professional services and training.

Cost of services and other revenue was consistent for the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the corresponding periods of the prior fiscal year.

Cost of services and other revenue during the six months ended December 31, 2015 included the recognition of \$0.6 million of costs related to customer contracts recognized under completed contract accounting, as noted above.

The timing of revenue and expense recognition on professional service arrangements can impact the comparability of cost of professional services revenue from year to year.

Gross profit margin on services and other revenue of 23.3% for the three months ended December 31, 2015 was consistent with the 22.2% for the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year, primarily due to consistent revenue and lower net costs of \$0.1 million.

Gross profit margin on services and other revenue of 16.1% during the six months ended December 31, 2015 decreased from 18.4% during the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year primarily due to consistent revenue and increased net costs of \$0.4 million.

Selling and Marketing Expense

| Three Mo | nths Ended | Period-to | -Period | Six Mont | hs Ended | Period-to | o-Period |
|----------|----------------|-----------|---------|----------|----------|-----------|----------|
| Decen | ıber 31, | Chai | ıge | Decem | ber 31, | Cha | nge |
| 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % |
| | (Dollars in Th | ousands) | | | | | |

| Selling and | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|--------------|--------------|---------------|----------|--------|--------------|----|-------|-------|
| marketing | | | | | | | | | |
| expense | \$ 21,178 | \$ 22,821 | \$ (1,643) | -7.2% \$ | 43,614 | \$ 44,439 | \$ | (825) | -1.9% |
| As a percent of | | | | | | | | | |
| revenue | 17.8% | 21.2% | | | 18.2% | 20.79 | 6 | | |

The period-over-period decrease of \$1.6 million in selling and marketing expense during the three months ended December 31, 2015 was primarily attributable to a decrease in commissions of \$1.4 million and a net decrease in other expenses of \$0.5 million, partially offset by an increase in overhead allocations of \$0.3 million.

The period-over-period decrease of \$0.8 million in selling and marketing expense during the six months ended December 31, 2015 was primarily attributable to a decrease in commissions of \$1.7 million, partially offset by an increase in overhead allocations of \$0.8 million and a net increase in other expenses of \$0.1 million.

Table of Contents

Research and Development Expense

| | Three Mor | | Period-to-Pe Change | | | Six Monti Decemi | | Period-to-Pe | |
|-----------------|--------------|--------------|------------------------|---------------|-----|---------------------|--------------|--------------|------|
| | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % | | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % |
| | | | (1 | Dollars in Tl | hou | sands) | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| Research and | | | | | | | | | |
| development | | | | | | | | | |
| expense | \$ 15,981 | \$ 15,957 | \$ 24 | 0.2% | \$ | 32,578 | \$ 32,225 | \$ 353 | 1.1% |
| As a percent of | | | | | | | | | |
| revenue | 13.4% | 14.8% | | | | 13.6% | 15.0% | | |

Research and development expense was consistent during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the corresponding periods of the prior year.

General and Administrative Expense

| | | Three Mor Decem | | | | Period-to-P Change | | | Six Mont Decem | | | Period-to-Pe | |
|------------------------------------|----|--------------------|----|--------|----|-----------------------|---------------------|---|-------------------|----|--------|--------------|-------|
| | | 2015 | | 2014 | | \$ | % (Dollars in Th | | 2015 (ands) | | 2014 | \$ | % |
| General and administrative expense | \$ | 13,805 | \$ | 10,226 | \$ | 3,579 | 35.0% | 5 | 26,667 | \$ | 22,451 | \$ 4,216 | 18.8% |
| As a percent of revenue | · | 11.6% | · | 9.5% | · | , | | | 11.1% | , | 10.4% | | |

The period-over-period increase of \$3.6 million in general and administrative expense during the three months ended December 31, 2015 was primarily attributable to \$1.0 million of expenses related to the pending Acquisition, noted above, an increase in compensation of \$0.5 million, an increase of \$0.5 million in recruiting and a benefit in the three months ended December 31, 2014, of \$0.9 million associated with collection of a business tax refund and receipt of \$0.7 million for an award in connection with a certain legal action.

The period-over-period increase of \$4.2 million in general and administrative expense during the six months ended December 31, 2015 was primarily attributable to \$1.0 million of expenses related to the pending Acquisition, noted above, an increase in compensation of \$1.3 million, an increase of \$0.6 million in recruiting and related and a benefit in the three months ended December 31, 2014, of \$0.9 million associated with collection of a business tax refund and receipt of \$0.7 million for an award in connection with a certain legal action, partially offset by a net decrease in other expenses of \$0.3 million.

Interest Income

| | Three Mor Decem | | Period-to-Pe Change | | | Six Month Decemb | | Period-to-Per Change | riod |
|-----------------|--------------------|-----------|------------------------|---------------|------|---------------------|-----------|-------------------------|--------|
| | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % | | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % |
| | | | | (Dollars in ' | Thou | usands) | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| Interest income | \$ 71 | \$ 132 | \$ (61) | -46.2% | \$ | 153 | \$ 268 | \$ (115) | -42.9% |
| As a percent of | | | | | | | | | |
| revenue | 0.1% | 0.1% | | | | 0.1% | 0.1% | | |

The period-over-period decrease in interest income during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 was attributable to lower level of investment portfolio that resulted in a decrease in interest income from investments.

Table of Contents

Interest Expense

| | Three Mont | | Period-to-l Chang | | | Six Month Decemb | | Period-to-Pe Change | |
|------------------|------------|-----------|----------------------|---------------|-----|---------------------|-----------|------------------------|--------|
| | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % | | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % |
| | | | | (Dollars in T | hou | sands) | | | |
| Interest expense | \$ (13) | \$ (4) | \$ (9) | 225.0% | \$ | (14) | \$ (7) | \$ (7) | 100.0% |
| As a percent of | | | | | | | | | |
| revenue | 0.0% | 0.0% | | | | 0.0% | 0.0% | | |

The period-over-period increase in interest expense during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 was attributable to miscellaneous interest charges.

Other income (expense), net

| | | Three Mon Decemb | | Period-to-Pe | | | Six Month Decemb | | Period-to-l Chang | |
|-----------------------------|----|---------------------|-------------|--------------|--------------------|------|---------------------|------------|----------------------|----------|
| | 2 | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % (Dollars in T | Γhou | 2015 (sands) | 2014 | \$ | % |
| Other income (expense), net | \$ | (157) | \$ (248) | \$ 91 | -36.7% | \$ | 739 | \$ (60) | \$ 799 | -1331.7% |
| As a percent of revenue | | -0.1% | -0.2% | | | | 0.3% | 0.0% | | |

Other income (expense), net is comprised primarily of unrealized and realized foreign currency exchange gains and losses generated from the settlement and remeasurement of transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our operating units. Other income (expense), net also includes miscellaneous non-operating gains and losses.

During the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, other income (expense), net was comprised of \$0.2 million of net currency losses.

During the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, other income (expense), net was comprised of \$0.7 million and (\$0.1) million of net currency gains (losses), respectively.

Provision for Income Taxes

| | Three Mor Decem | | Period-to-Pe | | | Six Mont Decem | | Period-to-Pe | |
|----------------------------|--------------------|--------------|--------------|---------------|------|-------------------|--------------|--------------|-------|
| | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % | | 2015 | 2014 | \$ | % |
| | | | 1 | (Dollars in T | 'hou | sands) | | | |
| Provision for income taxes | \$ 19,517 | \$ 15,937 | \$ 3,580 | 22.5% | \$ | 39,152 | \$ 31,924 | \$ 7,228 | 22.6% |
| Effective tax rate | 34.7% | 34.3% | | | | 34.8% | 34.9% | | |

The effective tax rate for the periods presented is primarily the result of income earned in the U.S. taxed at U.S. federal and state statutory income tax rates, income earned in foreign tax jurisdictions taxed at the applicable rates, as well as the impact of permanent differences between book and tax income.

Our effective tax rate for the three months ended December 31, 2015 was 34.7% as compared to 34.3% for the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year. Our effective tax rate for the six months ended December 31, 2015 was 34.8% as compared to 34.9% for the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year.

We recognized an income tax expense of \$19.5 million and \$39.2 million during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 compared to \$15.9 million and \$31.9 million during the corresponding periods of the prior fiscal year. The period-over-period increases of \$3.6 million and \$7.2 million were primarily attributable to higher U.S. pre-tax profit.

Table of Contents

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Resources

In recent years, we have financed our operations with cash generated from operating activities. As of December 31, 2015, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of \$170.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and \$29.9 million of marketable securities. As of December 31, 2014, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of \$158.4 million in cash and cash equivalents and \$98.0 million of marketable securities.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, together with our cash flows from operating activities will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next twelve months. We have entered into a Bridge Credit Agreement and intend to obtain permanent financing, in the form of a revolving credit facility, prior to the closing of the Acquisition, to replace the Bridge Credit Agreement. We may need to raise additional funds in the event we decide to make one or more acquisitions of businesses, technologies or products in addition to the pending Acquisition. If additional funding is required, we may not be able to effect a receivable, equity or debt financing on terms acceptable to us or at all.

Our cash equivalents of \$127.8 million and \$138.8 million consist primarily of money market funds as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our investments in marketable securities of \$29.9 million and \$98.0 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 consist primarily of investment grade fixed income corporate debt securities with maturities ranging from less than 1 month to 8 months and from less than 1 month to 20 months, respectively. The fair value of our portfolio is affected by interest rate movements, credit and liquidity risks. The objective of our investment policy is to manage our cash and investments to preserve principal and maintain liquidity, while earning a return on our investment portfolio by investing available funds. We diversify our investment portfolio by investing in multiple types of investment-grade securities and attempt to mitigate a risk of loss by using a third-party investment manager.

The following table summarizes our cash flow activities for the periods indicated:

| | Six Mont Decem | | |
|--|-------------------|----------|-----------|
| | 2015 | | 2014 |
| | (Dollars in 7 | Thousand | ls) |
| Cash flow provided by (used in): | | | |
| Operating activities | \$ 39,172 | \$ | 73,775 |
| Investing activities | 30,268 | | (4,501) |
| Financing activities | (54,702) | | (109,280) |
| Effect of exchange rates on cash balances | (364) | | (1,077) |
| (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents | \$ 14,374 | \$ | (41,083) |

The pending acquisition of KBC will be funded by cash on hand of approximately \$91.0 million and Bridge Credit Agreement entered into on January 12, 2016 JPMCB. The Bridge Credit Agreement provides a principal amount of up to \$140.0 million with a maturity of 364 days from the date of the first drawdown. Borrowings under the Bridge Credit Agreement bear interest and are secured by liens on substantially all of our assets. We are required to grant such liens in favor of the lenders prior to the first drawdown. As of January 28, 2016, we had not drawn down on the Bridge Credit Agreement and would only do so if permanent financing were not in place prior to the closing of the Acquisition. We intend to

obtain permanent financing, in the form of revolving credit facility, prior to the closing of the Acquisition, to replace the Bridge Credit Agreement.

On January 11, 2016, we paid \$1.1 million in fees to JPMCB to secure the Bridge Credit Agreement and placed \$115.1 million in escrow, representing \$91.0 million of consideration payable under the terms of the Offer, \$23.1 million to fund potential foreign exchange fluctuations in the purchase price and \$1.0 million of costs that may become payable to JPMCB under the Bridge Credit Agreement.

Operating Activities

Our primary source of cash is from the annual installments associated with our software license arrangements and related software support services, and to a lesser extent from professional services and training. We believe that cash inflows from our term license business will grow as we benefit from the continued growth of our portfolio of term license contracts.

37

Table of Contents

During fiscal 2015 and 2014, we utilized our tax credits and net operating losses to offset U.S. corporate income taxes payable. We became a U.S. corporate tax payer in fiscal year 2016.

Cash from operating activities provided \$39.2 million during the six months ended December 31, 2015. This amount resulted from net income of \$73.5 million, adjusted for non-cash items of \$9.8 million and net uses of cash of \$44.1 million related to changes in working capital.

Non-cash items consisted primarily of stock-based compensation expense of \$7.9 million, depreciation and amortization expense of \$3.0 million and other net items of \$0.3 million partially offset by net foreign currency gains of \$1.4 million.

Cash used by working capital of \$44.1 million was primarily attributable to cash outflows related to decreases in deferred revenue of \$58.5 million, decreases in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of \$3.3 million, partially offset by cash inflows related to decreases in accounts receivable of \$15.7 million, decreases in installments receivable of \$1.3 million and other net items of \$0.7 million.

Our installments receivable balance continues to decrease as a result of collecting payments on our term software license contracts for which revenue was recognized upfront. Cash inflows generated from collections of installments receivable are expected to continue to decrease.

Cash flows related to deferred revenue vary due to the timing of invoicing, in particular the anniversary dates of annual installments associated with multi-year software license arrangements.

Investing Activities

During the six months ended December 31, 2015, we generated \$30.3 million of cash from investing activities. The sources of cash consisted primarily of \$32.0 million resulting from the maturities of marketable securities, partially offset by \$1.8 million in capital expenditures.

Financing Activities

During the six months ended December 31, 2015, we used \$54.7 million of cash for financing activities. We used \$56.8 million for repurchases of our common stock (\$55.0 million and \$1.8 million in the three months ended September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2015, respectively) and \$2.1 million for withholding taxes on vested and settled restricted stock units. Sources of cash in the period included \$1.8 million in excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation and proceeds of \$2.4 million from the exercise of employee stock options.

Contractual Obligations

In August 2015, we executed a lease amendment for our Houston, Texas location. The amendment extended the original lease termination date from July 2016 until February 2023 and increased future non-cancelable lease payments from \$1.8 million to \$7.0 million (\$9.9 million of base rent net of \$2.9 million landlord incentive applied against base rent). Base annual rent under the amended lease ranges between \$1.3 million and \$1.5 million, excluding our pro-rata share of taxes and expenses.

In August 2015, we entered into a new lease agreement for our office location in Singapore. The initial term of the lease is for 60 months and approximately 11,343 square feet, commencing December 2015. Base annual rent is \$0.6 million, excluding our proportionate share of taxes and other expenses. Subject to the terms and conditions of the lease, we may extend the lease for an additional 36 month term. Future minimum non-cancelable lease payments due over the term of the lease amount to approximately \$3.1 million. Aggregate capital expenditures, including leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment, with respect to the leased premises amounted to approximately \$1.0 million in fiscal 2016.

Except for the commitments under the aforementioned lease agreement, we are not currently a party to any other material purchase contracts related to future capital expenditures, and we do not expect our future investment in capital expenditures to be materially different from recent levels.

Standby letters of credit for \$3.7 million as of December 31, 2015 secure our performance on professional services contracts, certain facility leases and potential liabilities. This is an increase from \$2.2 million as of June 30, 2015. The letters of credit expire at various dates through fiscal 2025.

| Table | e of | Contents |
|-------|------|----------|
| | | |

Acquisition

On January 12, 2016, we announced the terms of a recommended all cash offer (the Offer) for the entire issued and to be issued share capital of KBC Advanced Technologies plc (KBC). Under the terms of the Offer, KBC shareholders will receive 185 Pence Sterling in cash for each share. (Pence Sterling is a subdivision of Pound Sterling [£]). The transaction values KBC at approximately £158 million. The payment amount in U.S. dollars will depend on the exchange rate at the time the transaction closes. Both companies boards of directors unanimously support the transaction. The Offer is conditioned on, among other things, KBC s shareholder approval and the approval of the High Court of Justice in England and Wales. It is expected that the transaction will close in the first calendar quarter of 2016 (the Acquisition).

The Offer will be funded by cash on hand of approximately \$91.0 million and a Bridge Credit Agreement (the Bridge Credit Agreement) entered into on January 12, 2016 with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent (JPMCB), and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner, and the lenders party thereto. The Bridge Credit Agreement provides a principal amount of up to \$140.0 million with a maturity of 364 days from the date of the first drawdown. Borrowings under the Bridge Credit Agreement bear interest and are secured by liens on substantially all of our assets. We are required to grant such liens in favor of the lenders prior to the first drawdown. As of January 28, 2016, we had not drawn down on the Bridge Credit Agreement and would only do so if permanent financing were not in place prior to the closing of the Acquisition. We intend to obtain permanent financing, in the form of revolving credit facility, prior to the closing of the Acquisition, to replace the Bridge Credit Agreement.

On January 11, 2016, we paid \$1.1 million in fees to JPMCB to secure the Bridge Credit Agreement and placed \$115.1 million in escrow, representing \$91.0 million of consideration payable under the terms of the Offer, \$23.1 million to fund potential foreign exchange fluctuations in the purchase price and \$1.0 million of costs that may become payable to JPMCB under the Bridge Credit Agreement.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 2 (e), Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements, in the Notes to the Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements for information about recent accounting pronouncements.

39

| 7D 1 | 1 | | | _ | | | |
|-------------|----|---|----|-----|----|-----|-----|
| Tal | ٦I | е | Λt | (' | Λn | tei | 1tc |

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

In the ordinary course of conducting business, we are exposed to certain risks associated with potential changes in market conditions. These market risks include changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates which could affect operating results, financial position and cash flows. We manage our exposure to these market risks through our regular operating and financing activities and, if considered appropriate, we may enter into derivative financial instruments such as forward currency exchange contracts.

Foreign Currency Risk

During the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 11.1% and 15.0% of our total revenue was denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar, respectively. During the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 13.8% and 15.0% of our total revenue was denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar, respectively. In addition, certain of our operating costs incurred outside the United States are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. We conduct business on a worldwide basis and as a result, a portion of our revenue, earnings, net assets, and net investments in foreign affiliates is exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We measure our net exposure for cash balance positions and for cash inflows and outflows in order to evaluate the need to mitigate our foreign exchange risk. We may enter into foreign currency forward contracts to minimize the impact related to unfavorable exchange rate movements, although we have not done so during the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. Our largest exposures to foreign currency exchange rates exist primarily with the Euro, Pound Sterling, Canadian Dollar, and Japanese Yen.

During the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we recorded (\$0.2) million and (\$0.2) million of net foreign currency exchange (losses) related to the settlement and remeasurement of transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our operating units. Our analysis of operating results transacted in various foreign currencies indicated that a hypothetical 10% change in the foreign currency exchange rates could have increased or decreased the consolidated results of operations by approximately \$1.1 million and \$1.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

During the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we recorded \$0.7 million and (\$0.1) million of net foreign currency exchange gains (losses) related to the settlement and remeasurement of transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of our operating units. Our analysis of operating results transacted in various foreign currencies indicated that a hypothetical 10% change in the foreign currency exchange rates could have increased or decreased the consolidated results of operations by approximately \$2.4 million and \$2.9 million for the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Interest Rate Risk

We place our investments in money market instruments and high quality, investment grade, fixed-income corporate debt securities that meet high credit quality standards, as specified in our investment guidelines.

We mitigate the risks by diversifying our investment portfolio, limiting the amount of investments in debt securities of any single issuer and using a third-party investment manager. Our debt securities are short- to intermediate- term investments with maturities ranging from less than 1 month to 8 months as of December 31, 2015 and from less than 1 month to 20 months as of December 31, 2014, respectively. We do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio.

Our analysis of our investment portfolio and interest rates at December 31, 2015 and 2014 indicated that a 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates would result in a decrease or increase of approximately \$0.1 million in the fair value of our investment portfolio determined in accordance with income-based approach utilizing portfolio future cash flows discounted at the appropriate rates.

| 7D 1 | 1 | | | _ | | | |
|-------------|----|---|----|-----|----|-----|-----|
| Tal | ٦I | е | Λt | (' | Λn | tei | 1tc |

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2015. The term disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2015, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

b) Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

During the three months ended December 31, 2015, no changes were identified in our internal controls over financial reporting that materially affected, or were reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

41

| m | . 1 | | c | | | |
|----------|-----|---|----|----|-----|-----|
| Tal | hI | e | ot | on | ıte | nts |

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

Refer to Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies, in the Notes to the Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding certain legal proceedings, the contents of which are herein incorporated by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The risks described in Item 1A. Risk Factors, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2015, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. These risk factors do not identify all risks that we face our operations could also be affected by factors that are not presently known to us or that we currently consider to be immaterial to our operations. The Risk Factors section of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K remains current in material respects, with the exception of the revised risk factors below.

The obligations we undertake to finance the KBC acquisition may limit our flexibility, and we may not be able successfully to complete the proposed acquisition, or if we complete it, to realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisition when expected, if at all.

We will undertake obligations under credit arrangements to fund in part our acquisition of KBC, and these obligations may affect our liquidity, operational and financial flexibility or ability to make other investments. Also, a change in the exchange rate of Pounds Sterling to the U.S. Dollar could increase the cost of the acquisition. If we do complete the acquisition, we may be unable to achieve expected synergies and operating efficiencies in connection with the acquisition within the expected time-frames or at all; integration of KBC may be more difficult, time-consuming or costly than expected; the acquisition may result in changes in our customer, supplier and other business relationships; and we may be exposed to lawsuits and contingencies associated with the acquisition.

Other risks and uncertainties related to the proposed acquisition include the risk that KBC s shareholders do not approve the acquisition, potential adverse reactions or changes to business relationships resulting from the announcement, pendency or completion of the acquisition, uncertainties as to the timing of the acquisition, the possibility that the closing conditions to the proposed acquisition may not be satisfied or waived, including that a governmental entity may prohibit, delay or refuse to grant a necessary approval, adverse effects on our stock price resulting from the announcement or completion of the acquisition, conststand difficulties related to the post-closing integration of KBC s businesses and operations with our businesses and operations, the inability to obtain, or delays in obtaining, cost savings and synergies from the acquisition, uncertainties as to whether the completion of the acquisition or any transaction will have the accretive effect on our earnings or cash flows that we expect, unexpected costs, liabilities, charges or expenses resulting from the acquisition, litigation relating to the acquisition, the inability to retain key personnel, and any changes in general economic and/or industry-specific conditions.

The majority of our revenue is attributable to operations outside the United States, and our operating results therefore may be materially affected by the economic, political, military, regulatory and other risks of foreign operations or of transacting business with customers outside the United States.

As of December 31, 2015, we operated in 31 countries. We sell our products primarily through a direct sales force located throughout the world. In the event that we are unable to adequately staff and maintain our foreign operations, we could face difficulties managing our international operations.

Customers outside the United States accounted for the majority of our total revenue during the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. We anticipate that revenue from customers outside the United States will continue to account for a significant portion of our total revenue for the foreseeable future. Our operating results attributable to operations outside the United States are subject to additional risks, including

- unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and other barriers, including, for example, sanctions or other regulatory restrictions imposed by the United States or foreign governments;
- less effective protection of intellectual property;
- requirements of foreign laws and other governmental controls;
- delays in the execution of license agreement renewals in the same quarter in which the original agreements expire;
- difficulties in collecting trade accounts receivable in other countries;
- adverse tax consequences; and
- the challenges of managing legal disputes in foreign jurisdictions.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could result in declines in our reported revenue and operating results.

During the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 11.1% and 15.0% of our total revenue was denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar, respectively. During the six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 13.8% and 15.0% of

Table of Contents

our total revenue was denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar, respectively. In addition, certain of our operating expenses incurred outside the United States are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Our reported revenue and operating results are subject to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises primarily from the net difference between non-U.S. dollar receipts from customers outside the United States and non-U.S. dollar operating expenses for subsidiaries in foreign countries. Currently, our largest exposures to foreign exchange rates exist primarily with the Euro, Pound Sterling, Canadian dollar and Japanese Yen against the U.S. dollar. During the three and six months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we did not enter into, and were not a party to any, derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency exchange contracts, intended to manage the volatility of these market risks. We cannot predict the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, and foreign currency fluctuations in the future may adversely affect our revenue and operating results. Any hedging policies we may implement in the future may not be successful, and the cost of those hedging techniques may have a significant negative impact on our operating results.

We may be subject to significant expenses and damages because of product-related claims.

In the ordinary course of business, we are, from time to time, involved in product-related lawsuits, claims, investigations, proceedings and threats of litigation. These matters include an April 2004 claim by a customer that certain of our software products and implementation services failed to meet the customer s expectations. In March 2014, a judgment issued in favor of the claimant customer against us in the amount of approximately 1.9 million plus interest and a portion of legal fees. We subsequently filed an appeal of that judgment. In December 2015, the appellate court determined that we must pay damages in the amount of approximately 1.2 million plus interest, and with the possibility of additional damages to be determined by the appellate court. The amount of damages cannot be predicted with certainty, and could materially adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

On January 28, 2015, we publicly announced a share repurchase program for up to \$450 million worth of our common stock and terminated the previous program that had been approved by the Board of Directors on April 23, 2014. The previous program had an authorized value of up to \$200 million and remaining capacity of approximately \$25.4 million when terminated. The timing and amount of any shares repurchased are based on market conditions and other factors. All shares of our common stock repurchased have been recorded as treasury stock under the cost method.

We repurchased 1,339,499 shares of our common stock for \$55.1 million during the three months ended September 30, 2015. We did not repurchase shares of our common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2015. We repurchased 7,731,428 shares of our common stock for \$298.3 million during fiscal 2015. As of December 31, 2015, the remaining dollar value under the stock repurchase program approved on January 28, 2015 was \$246.3 million.

Table of Contents

Item 6. Exhibits.

| | | Filed with | Inc | corporated by Refer | ence |
|---------|--|------------|------|---------------------|---------|
| Exhibit | | this Form | | Filing Date | Exhibit |
| Number | Description | 10-Q | Form | with SEC | Number |
| 31.1 | Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to | | | | |
| | Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant | | | | |
| | to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 | X | | | |
| 31.2 | Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to | | | | |
| | Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant | | | | |
| | to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 | X | | | |
| 32.1 | Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer and | | | | |
| | Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer | | | | |
| | pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to | | | | |
| | Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 | X | | | |
| 101.INS | Instance Document | X | | | |
| 101.SCH | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document | X | | | |
| 101.CAL | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document | X | | | |
| 101.DEF | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document | X | | | |
| 101.LAB | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document | X | | | |
| 101.PRE | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase | | | | |
| | Document | X | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | 44 | | | | |

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Aspen Technology, Inc.

Date: January 28, 2016 By: /s/ ANTONIO J. PIETRI

Antonio J. Pietri

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: January 28, 2016 By: /s/ KARL E. JOHNSEN

Karl E. Johnsen

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

45

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

| | | Filed with | Iı | ncorporated by Reference | e |
|---------|---|------------|------|--------------------------|---------|
| Exhibit | | this Form | | Filing Date | Exhibit |
| Number | Description | 10-Q | Form | with SEC | Number |
| 31.1 | Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to | | | | |
| | Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant to | | | | |
| | Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 | X | | | |
| 31.2 | Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to | | | | |
| | Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant to | | | | |
| | Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 | X | | | |
| 32.1 | Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer and | | | | |
| | Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant | | | | |
| | to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 | | | | |
| | of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 | X | | | |
| 101.INS | Instance Document | X | | | |
| 101.SCH | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document | X | | | |
| 101.CAL | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document | X | | | |
| 101.DEF | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document | X | | | |
| 101.LAB | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document | X | | | |
| 101.PRE | XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document | X | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | 46 | | | | |